

## An overview of the literature

# Effective teaching of reading

Literature review Published October 2023



### Important notices

This literature review was compiled by the Language and Literacy Team, State Schools Teaching, Leadership, Rural and Remote

### Copyright notice

Effective teaching of reading: Overview of the literature © State of Queensland (represented by the Department of Education) 2022

#### Peer review

This literature review was externally reviewed by a team of researchers in education, speech pathology, and library and information science. (Australian Council of Education Research 2022)

### Citation

#### Internal report

Citation: Department of Education (2022) *Effective teaching of reading: Overview of the literature,* Department of Education.

#### Report by an Australian Government agency

Citation: Department of Education (2022) *Effective teaching of reading: Overview of the literature,* Department of Education, Queensland Government.

## Contents

Overview	4
Background	.4
Introduction	.4

Reading foundations5
Oral language5
Emergent literacy5
Shared reading7
Reciprocity of language and literacy8

## Theoretical framework ......9

The simple view	of reading	)
1	0	

Reading	comprehensi	on 1	1
---------	-------------	------	---

Word reading 11
The alphabetic principle11
Phonemic awareness12
Grapheme-phoneme correspondences12
Sight word vocabulary12
Orthographic mapping process13
Systematic synthetic phonics 14
High frequency words15
The role of decodable texts
Orthographic depth 16
Fluency for comprehension17

Language comprehension18	3
Constructing mental models	3
Background knowledge 18	3
Vocabulary knowledge 19	9
Syntactic knowledge20	С
Text structure knowledge 2	1
Comprehension monitoring 2	1
Inferential comprehension	2

### Reciprocity of reading and writing...... 23

A rights-based approach 2	24
Inclusive education	24
Multi-tiered systems of support	24

#### Factors impacting on reading...... 25

A complex multidimensional process	25
Linguistic factors	25
Cognitive factors	26
Genetic and medical factors	27
Psychological factors	27

#### Instructional environment ...... 28

Systematic and explicit instruction	28
Cognitive load theory	28
Professional collaboration	28

Conclusion29
Recommendations 30
Glossary
References35

## Overview

## Background

The Australian Curriculum promotes excellence and equity in education for all students to achieve their full potential. The Queensland Department of Education is committed to implementing the Australian Curriculum with an approach to the teaching of reading that is inclusive, evidenceinformed, and promotes equitable outcomes for every learner.

To implement effective reading instruction, teachers require strong knowledge of the constructs of oral language and the subskills involved in reading comprehension (Binks-Cantrell et al. 2012; Snow 2016). However, studies from Australia and the United States have found pre-service and in-service teachers often have limited knowledge of language and literacy, or the pedagogy that promotes reading development (Piasta et al. 2009; Stark et al. 2016). A systematic review by Meeks et al. (2017) showed that new graduate teachers in Australia and the United States are not confident to apply their knowledge to practice and do not perceive their own level of preparedness for teaching early-reading to be high. This perception is further supported by an Australian review of initial teacher education courses which found only 4% of the 116 literacy units reviewed had a specific focus on early reading instruction (Buckingham and Meeks 2019).

Gaps in knowledge have implications not only for teachers' ability to teach all children to read, but to also accurately identify difficulties in reading comprehension (Graham et al. 2020). It is critical that every student receives high-quality evidence-based reading instruction to develop the foundational skills in reading necessary to access all curriculum areas across both primary and secondary contexts. While building teacher knowledge is key, it is important to acknowledge that policy and school leadership influence teaching and learning in schools and classrooms (Levin 2013; Stockard 2020). A collaborative focus, therefore, on improving and sustaining school leadership and teacher knowledge in reading for effective instruction is essential (Goldfeld et al. 2021; Levin 2013; Stockard 2020).

### Introduction

Being able to read and write is profoundly transformative, both for individuals and for population-level health and wellbeing more widely (Snow 2020). Reading is central to academic success, wellbeing, and employment outcomes (McGeown et al. 2015). Though cognitive science research indicates that 95% of children can learn to read when taught using explicit, evidenceinformed practices, low literacy continues to be a critical and persistent challenge around the world (Hempenstall 2013). In Queensland, approximately 40% of 15-year-olds are estimated to read below National Proficient Standard (Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 2019). This is particularly concerning given that a basic level of reading competency is no longer sufficient for the demands of the workplace (Leone et al. 2005). It is, therefore, no surprise that the acquisition of reading is one of the most researched aspects of human developmental psychology (Amendum et al. 2018; Clarke et al. 2010; Snow 2020; Snowling and Hulme 2011).

This narrative literature review focuses on the teaching of reading. It aims to provide current and future classroom teachers, allied health professionals, and system and school leaders with the evidence base for the effective teaching of reading, particularly in the first three years of schooling.

In this review, reading and effective reading instruction are positioned within a rights-based approach and among the principles of inclusion. This paper summarises the findings from national and international research regarding reading acquisition and examines the research evidence that supports effective reading instruction so that all, not only most children, successfully transition to literacy (Snow 2016). A theoretical framework for understanding reading development and the skills that underpin reading comprehension is outlined. The importance of a collaborative and multidisciplinary approach to promoting and accelerating reading competency for all students is highlighted.

## Reading foundations

Unlike spoken language, written language is not a natural part of human development. The transition from a biologically natural code (talking and listening) to one that is biologically unnatural (reading and writing) builds on the language competencies a child brings to school, augmented with evidence-based, explicit instruction in the classroom (Snow 2020). A great deal of research has demonstrated strong links between early oral language skills and subsequent literacy achievements (Catts et al. 2001, 2002; Dickinson and Porche 2011; Murphy et al. 2016; National Early Literacy Panel [NELP] 2008; Pelatti et al. 2014; Powell 2018). Therefore, promoting children's spoken language, particularly in the early years, provides a natural bridge to support the development of reading and writing skills (Snow 2020).

The home literacy environment (Aaron et al. 2008) is positively associated with elevated early-literacy skills in the preschool years (Farver et al. 2013) and enhanced reading skills in the primary years (Sénéchal and LeFevre 2002). Features of the home environment, such as household stability and routines (Newbury et al. 2020), as well as literacyrelated activities including interactive shared book reading; exposure to environmental print; access to writing utensils; and the sociocultural practice of oral storytelling (Buckingham et al. 2014; Puglisi et al. 2017) can influence the development of the foundational skills that underpin reading.

## Oral language

Over 30 years of research has firmly established that oral language skills are the foundation for reading and writing development (Adlof and Hogan 2019; Hogan et al. 2012). Children who are surrounded by, and included in, rich and increasingly complex conversations have an overwhelming advantage in vocabulary development, understanding the structures of language, and tuning into the sounds of their language. As children engage in these early interactions, they are immersed in various aspects of language that will ultimately support their reading development (Catts et al. 2002; Dickinson and Tabor 2001; Snow et al. 1995; Wise et al. 2007). Parental socio-economic status (SES) significantly impacts the quantity and quality of language to which children are exposed in the years prior to school (Hart and Risley 1995; Hoff 2006; Snow 2020). Parents with a lower SES often have a lower lexical diversity in comparison to the language of parents with a higher SES (Burchinal et al. 2008; Huttenlocher et al. 2010). For this reason, Roy and Chiat (2013) note that early years classrooms need to accelerate, not merely progress, the language skills of children.

> Over 19 per cent of Queensland children start school with scores of 'developmentally at risk' or 'vulnerable' in the language and cognitive domain and 25 per cent are at risk or vulnerable in relation to their communication skills and general knowledge at school entry.

> > Australian Early Development Census National Report 2021

While limited oral language skills are considered a risk factor for children, strong oral language skills may act as a protective factor for reading proficiency (Colenbrander et al. 2018). Studies have shown that children with age-appropriate oral language skills are less likely to develop reading difficulties despite being in families whose circumstances might increase the risk of reading failure (Snowling 2008; Snowling et al. 2003). Oral language may be used as a relative strength to help compensate for other weaknesses underlying reading (Snowling 2008; Snowling et al. 2003).

### **Emergent literacy**

Children's literacy learning starts at birth, long before they commence formal reading instruction at school. During this period, referred to as the emergent literacy stage (Justice 2006), a wide array of skills is acquired before conventional literacy is learned.



In 2008, the National Early Literacy Panel (NELP) found the skills of phonological awareness, print knowledge, vocabulary knowledge, and narrative knowledge to be among the most important in preparing young children for later success in reading. Developmentally, these skills progress simultaneously and typically within social environments (Saracho 2017). Just as being exposed to language-rich environments is important for the development of oral language abilities, literacy-rich environments provide children with opportunities to learn about, interact with, and experiment with print. The development of emergent literacy skills may be influenced by the home environment and by access to high quality early childhood education (Australian Early Development Census National Report 2021; Buckingham et al. 2014).

> Emergent literacy skills of phonological awareness, print knowledge, print concepts, narrative awareness, vocabulary, and oral language play an integral role in preparing young children for later success in reading.

> > Justice and Kaderavek 2004; Justice and Pullen 2003; NELP 2008; Whitehurst and Lonigan 1998

One of the first concepts that children learn about literacy is the symbolic nature of print. **Print knowledge** is universally essential to early reading, irrespective of the language in which reading instruction occurs (Bialystok and Luk 2007). It refers to the way print is organised in various texts and the functions it serves (print concept knowledge), the names and distinctive features of individual alphabet letters (alphabet knowledge), and the expression of meaning through writing (emergent writing; Justice and Ezell 2002). Print knowledge is not influenced by the frequency, but by the quality of interactions during writing, reading, and playing (Bus et al. 1995; Roberts et al. 2008; Scarborough and Dobrich 1994; Sénéchal et al. 1998). Research shows children's early knowledge about print develops largely the same way across different writing systems and different cultures, and points to an important commonality in how typically developing children learn to read (Bialystok and Luk 2007).

> Print knowledge skills generally emerge before formal schooling and are consistently related to children's later achievements in word recognition and spelling.

Lonigan and Shanahan 2009; Pratt et al. 2015; Storch and Whitehurst 2002

**Phonological awareness** involves the identification and manipulation of parts of spoken language, including words, syllables, onsets and rimes, and the individual speech sounds in words (Lonigan and Shanahan 2009). This skill begins to develop during the preschool years (Carroll et al. 2003) and follows a consistent developmental pattern with the ability to manipulate large units of sound developing prior to the ability to manipulate smaller units of sound (Anthony and Francis 2005; Carroll et al. 2003). Research has indicated that phonological awareness emerges as part of typical language development, and in optimal circumstances, children's exposure to rhyme and song in the preschool years lay the foundation for phonemic awareness (Carroll et al. 2003; Ehri et al. 2001; Justice and Pullen 2003). Phonemic awareness is widely considered a critical precursor to early reading success; however, awareness of phonemes needs to be explicitly taught to children as they may not develop that skill on their own (Goswami 2001; Kilpatrick 2015).

Children's acquisition of a rich **vocabulary** is not based on age but on experiences (Beck et al. 2013). The number and variety of words that children hear is strongly correlated with later literacy achievement (Fernald et al. 2006; Hurtado et al. 2007, 2008). Pre-school children with strong receptive vocabularies tend to have better language comprehension, word recognition, and reading comprehension in the later primary years (Scarborough 2001). Given the vocabulary gap for students from differing backgrounds, a systematic and explicit approach to vocabulary expansion from a young age is crucial (Beck and McKeown 2007; Harris et al. 2011; Jalongo and Sobolak 2011; Neuman and Dwyer 2009; Torr and Scott 2006).

> Vocabulary is a critical factor in school success; impacting on early reading and writing and in later years, and on composing and comprehending complex texts.

> > Biemiller and Boote 2006; Dymock and Nicholson 2010; Rupley and Nichols 2005

Across different cultures and languages, **narratives** are frequently used as a means to share real or imagined events (Schick and Melzi 2010). Being able to understand and tell narratives provides a bridge between oral and written language (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development 2005; Roth et al. 2002) and are an important component of emergent literacy (Gardner-Neblett and Iruka 2015), anchored in children's exposure to stories and early interactions with print (Sénéchal and LeFevre 2001, 2002). Research suggests that there are positive associations between spoken narrative skill and other emergent literacy skills including writing skills, letter knowledge, phonological awareness and print knowledge (Hipfner-Boucher et al. 2014; Snow et al. 1995; Tabors et al. 2001), as well as early word reading skills (Griffin et al. 2004; NELP 2008).

### Shared reading

Research suggests shared book reading is an ideal context for teaching emergent literacy skills to preschool children (Boudreau 2008; Justice and Kaderavek 2002; Schuele and Boudreau 2008; van Kleeck 2008). Shared book reading describes the interaction that occurs between an adult and a child when reading or looking at a book. During interactive shared book reading, the adult and the child are active participants in constructing



dialogue or conversation about the book (Terrell and Watson 2018). Shared reading provides highly contextualised exposure to novel words in an interaction that is authentic, familiar and often motivating to young children (Roth et al. 2002). It is a language-based activity that is a unique learning context as it presents both oral and written language simultaneously.

> Shared reading promotes coderelated skills, such as print concepts, alphabet knowledge and phonological awareness and meaning-related skills, such as receptive and expressive vocabulary, narratives and inferences.

> > Arnold et al. 1994; Dale et al. 1996; Justice et al. 2005; Peterson et al. 1999; van Kleeck et al. 2006; Wasik et al. 2006; Whitehurst et al. 1994

A meta-analysis of shared reading with children aged one to five years noted that parent-child book reading improves receptive vocabulary, expressive vocabulary, and emergent literacy skills (Law et al. 2018). Brown et al. (2022) further found that infants whose parents read with them for eleven minutes or more per day had stronger reading, spelling, and grammar skills in Years 3 and 5. Accordingly, increased shared reading has been shown to be associated with enhanced kindergarten readiness and foundational reading skills (Justice et al. 2016; Sawyer et al. 2014).

## Reciprocity of language and literacy

Across the lifespan, language and literacy have a cyclical and reciprocal relationship, with gains in one domain being of direct benefit to the other (Nippold 2007). There are fundamental and intrinsic links between early oral language proficiency and the transition to written language and subsequent



academic achievement (Nation and Snowling 2004; Snow 2016). In turn, access to written print facilitates ongoing growth in oral language competency through exposure to higher-order vocabulary, idiomatic language and more complex syntactic structures (Adlof 2019; Beck et al. 2013).

> Effective teaching and early intervention can lead to high levels of oral language and literacy achievement for all children

> > Buckingham et al. 2013

Research shows that exemplary effective teaching and early intervention can lead to high levels of oral language and literacy achievement for all children, including those at-risk or vulnerable for later reading challenges (Buckingham et al. 2013).

## Theoretical framework

## The simple view of reading

A clearly defined theoretical framework assists educators in acquiring the competencies needed to better understand the development of reading comprehension in all students. A number of theories for understanding reading comprehension have been proposed, such as the Simple View of Reading (SVR) (Gough and Tunmer 1986), four-part processing model of word recognition (Seidenberg and McClelland 1989), dual route model (Coltheart 2006), and the Cognitive Foundations Framework (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). While these models have all contributed to the growth in understanding of reading over the last three decades, the SVR provides the most substantial body of research for understanding the broad landscape of reading - that the combined abilities to understand a language (language comprehension) and quickly and accurately identify its printed words (word reading) accounts almost completely for the ability to read that language. (Language and Reading Research Consortium (LAARC) and Chiu 2018; Lervag et al. 2018; Lonigan et al. 2018; Nation 2019).

At the core of the SVR is the premise that reading comprehension — the ability to understand and gain meaning from text — is the ultimate goal of reading (Gough and Tunmer 1986). The SVR posits that reading comprehension is the product of two key components; word reading (decoding printed text) and language comprehension (understanding language accessed through text without the cognitive demands of having to decode) (Hogan et al. 2014).

Word reading includes knowledge of the alphabetic principle, concepts about print, phonemic awareness, and orthographic knowledge. Language comprehension (sometimes termed listening comprehension) includes background knowledge, inferencing, and linguistic knowledge across the phonological, syntactic, and semantic domains (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). The skills required for word reading can be described as constrained as they are a finite set of skills (Paris 2005). Conversely, language comprehension skills are considered to be unconstrained as there is no limit to the amount of language an individual can learn in their lifetime (Paris 2005).

Both word reading and language comprehension are necessary, but neither is sufficient alone, for reading comprehension to occur (Nation 2019). The Cognitive Foundations Framework (Tunmer and Hoover 2019) is derived from the SVR and further recognises these two complementary skill sets, the acquisition of which require high levels of teacher knowledge and explicit classroom instruction. Much of the variance in reading comprehension can be accounted for by individual differences in word reading and language comprehension (Catts et al. 2005; Hjetland et al. 2019; Hoover and Gough 1990; Lervag et al. 2018). This has been shown in individuals ranging from primary school through adulthood, and includes English readers, readers of other languages such as Greek (Protopapas et al. 2013) and Chinese (Ho et al. 2012), and readers learning a second language (Hoover and Gough 1990; Verhoeven and van Leeuwe 2012).



The relative relationship of word reading and language comprehension to reading comprehension further varies across the year levels (Catts et al. 2005; LARRC 2015; Tilstra et al. 2009). In the early years of reading development, word reading explains a majority of the variance in reading comprehension, whereas in the later years, it is language comprehension that accounts for most of the variability (Catts 2018). This shift occurs around the third or fourth year of schooling for typically developing readers in English, once decoding becomes more automatic, and the language demands of reading materials increase (Catts et al. 2005; LARRC 2015). Accordingly, explicit, systematic, and evidence-based reading instruction is particularly crucial in the first three years of schooling (Buckingham et al. 2013; Snow 2016). Continued effective teaching of reading during the upper primary and secondary school years is also essential to ensure that all students continue to make progress throughout their education.

The SVR has further been shown to be valuable for classifying reading difficulties, and to promote the relationship between oral language and reading development (Catts 2018; Nation 2019).

The model suggests that if certain foundational skills, such as phonological awareness and vocabulary are weak, more sophisticated skills that ultimately lead to reading comprehension cannot be mastered (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). Children with language comprehension difficulties, for example, may not be identified until the later years as they move to more linguistically challenging texts. These students may also go unnoticed as they may mask their difficulties and compensate with other skills (Snowling et al. 2019). Furthermore, longitudinal studies have shown that measures of word reading and language comprehension can be used to predict later reading comprehension abilities (Adlof et al. 2006; Storch and Whitehurst 2002).

The SVR does not deny the complexity of reading (Catts et al. 2015; Hoover and Gough 1990; Hoover and Tunmer 2021). As Hoover and Tunmer (2018, 2020) note, the SVR represents only the



proximal capacities that underpin reading comprehension: that is, word reading and language comprehension. It does not consider the distal factors that indirectly impact reading comprehension, such as attention, motivation to learn to read, and the quality of classroom instruction (Hoover and Tunmer 2020). Despite this, the SVR, through the weight of the evidence supporting it, is a valid framework for understanding reading and its development in both beginning and skilled readers (Hoover and Tunmer 2021; LARRC and Chiu 2018; Lonigan et al. 2018). The SVR can be used to help 'support effective and differentiated reading instruction and practice for readers around the globe' (Savage 2020:44) and address the varying literacy learning needs of all students (Arrow et al. 2015).

The framework also shows how the skills that underpin word reading and language comprehension can be optimised in the classroom by evidenceinformed reading instruction (Hoover and Tunmer 2021; Nation 2019; Tunmer and Hoover 2019).

## Reading comprehension

Reading is multidimensional and draws on a range of cognitive and linguistic skills, with both the ability to identify individual words (word reading) and to construct meaning from text (language comprehension) required (Catts and Kamhi 2017; Nation 2019; Hoover and Tunmer 2021). As students read, they build a mental representation of the situation being described by the text, linking information from the text with relevant background knowledge. The product of reading comprehension emerges from the formation of this rich mental model that builds cumulatively as individuals read (Castles et al. 2018). This further reinforces that reading comprehension is an outcome (not a strategy) that teachers create by explicitly teaching the skills that underpin both word reading and language comprehension (Catts 2018).

In this narrative review, the components of reading comprehension are presented in an order which best matches their development. However, it is important to understand that all aspects of reading comprehension are being acquired at the same time, and that certain aspects will require greater emphasis at key points (such as fluency practice as decoding begins to develop) (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). All children can benefit from the teaching of reading that emphasises these interconnections in an explicit and systematic way (Adlof et al. 2011).

## Word reading

Word reading (recognition) is the foundation of reading, and comprehension is dependent on the ability to decode (Snowling and Hulme 2011). When words are recognised accurately and instantaneously, readers can focus their cognitive resourcing on constructing the meaning of the text.

Word reading involves the representation of speech sounds with visual symbols. In English, an alphabetic language, there are approximately 44 unique speech sounds called phonemes, the smallest units forming spoken words. English phonemes are represented by the 26 letters of the alphabet, either individually or in combination. These alphabetic representations are called graphemes (Such 2021).

Children are not born with specialised centres in the brain to connect graphemes (letters) to phonemes (sounds), and as a result, the brain repurposes some of its neural circuitry (Dehaene 2019). The neural networks responsible for word reading take several years to become well developed (Seidenberg 2017) and must be built through successful reading instruction (Hruby and Goswami 2011; Shaywitz and Shaywitz 2004; Shaywitz and Shaywitz 2008). Skilled and effortless word reading, where the printed word provides immediate access to word meaning, is a multifaceted skill that is gradually learned with instruction and practice (Heggie and Wade-Woolley 2017).

## The alphabetic principle

The process of converting print to speech requires beginning readers to map individual letters and letter combinations onto individual speech sounds. The insight of realising that phonemes are represented by graphemes is known as the alphabetic principle. This fundamental principle does not typically occur naturally, and therefore requires explicit instruction (Castles et al. 2018). The foundational knowledge required to grasp the alphabetic principle is not extensive but is a critical step to a deeper understanding of the English writing system. Once acquired, children can focus on the specifics of the relationships between graphemes and phonemes and apply this knowledge in their word reading and spelling (Castles et al. 2018). In order to apply this grapheme-phoneme knowledge to word reading, phonemic awareness is critical.

#### Phonemic awareness

Phonemic awareness involves attending to, thinking about and intentionally manipulating the individual phonemes within spoken words and syllables. Spoken words are continuous, often overlapping, streams of speech that are not easily abstracted into individual sounds or phonemes. Children need to develop phoneme sensitivity to the discrete phonemic unit in order to successfully map the graphemes to phonemes during word reading (Konza 2014). Phoneme sensitivity and the appreciation of phonemic structure develops later than the more general appreciation of larger phonological units such as syllables, onsets, and rimes (i.e. phonological awareness). Phonemic skills include the ability to blend phonemes together to read words, segment words into individual phonemes to spell words and manipulate individual phonemes within words.

Phonemic awareness plays an important role in all orthographies, but the correlation between phonemic awareness and successful reading acquisition is especially high in deep orthographies, such as English, in which the correspondence of letters to sounds is less transparent. The phonemic awareness of preschool children is the single best predictor of their future reading ability, better than either socio-economic status or intelligence (Adams 1990; Bowey 2005; Ehri et al. 2001; Hulme et al. 2012; Melby-Lervåg et al. 2012; Snow et al. 1998; Stanovich and Stanovich 2003; Wasik and Bond 2001). Phonemic awareness is a necessary precursor to fluent decoding and conventional reading.

Anthony et al. 2007

Learning to read itself stimulates the development of phonemic awareness, such that a reciprocal relationship exists between these skills (Konza 2014). Alphabetic letters and their sounds have long been seen as providing a concrete realisation of the phonemes in speech, which may help to stimulate the development of sensitivity to phonemes, especially word initial phonemes. The phonemic skills of blending and segmenting are taught in association with phoneme-grapheme correspondences and this is more productive than teaching either skill alone (Castles et al. 2009; Hulme et al. 2012).

## Grapheme-phoneme correspondences

Once children understand the alphabetic principle, the specifics of the relationship between graphemes (letters) and phonemes (sounds), referred to as grapheme-phoneme correspondences (GPCs), need to be taught in a systematic order for children to apply this knowledge in their reading and spelling (Castles et al. 2018).

Systematic instruction of GPCs requires explicit teaching of code moving from simple to complex. The initial code includes simple GPCs and the extended code includes more complex sound-spelling relationships (Such 2021). While many alphabetic languages have close to one-to-one correspondence between letters and sounds, written English has a complex and deep orthography. As a consequence, the English writing system requires direct instruction in a logical and sequential order to ensure all graphemephoneme correspondences are learned. Novice readers use their growing knowledge of GPCs to methodically segment the graphemes, convert them into phonemes and blend the phonemes together to read the word (Brady 2020; Buckingham et al. 2013).

### Sight word vocabulary

A primary goal for beginning readers is to recognise words immediately by securing the spellings of the words to both their pronunciations and meanings in memory (Ehri 2014). These words may be referred to as sight words or a sight word vocabulary. A sight word vocabulary is the ever-expanding bank of words that are automatically and effortlessly recognised. While readers use their eyes to read, cognitive neuroscientists have confirmed that the brain cannot distinguish words based on their visual properties or global word shapes. Skilled readers process every letter of the printed word from left to right, in parallel and so quickly that it is imperceptible to the reader. However, beginning readers use slow, serial, grapheme-by-grapheme decoding until they gradually get faster and more automatic (Dehaene et al. 2010).

### Orthographic mapping process

Repeated decoding of a word commits it to memory in which the words' spellings, pronunciations and meanings have been linked and stored in longterm memory for effortless and rapid retrieval. This mental process is known as orthographic mapping (Ehri 2014) and is critical for fluent word reading. Through listening and speaking, children first acquire the knowledge of a word's meaning and pronunciation. When learning to read, new information is added to this knowledge - the word's letter sequence or orthography that is attached to each phoneme in the word. To map the orthography of the word to the pronunciation and meaning, the reader must use automatic GPCs and proficient phonemic awareness, particularly blending and segmenting. Students are taught to integrate phonological (sounds), orthographic (spelling), and semantic (meaning) knowledge about words through repeated encoding and decoding practice. Through connecting the word's spelling, pronunciation and meaning, mental graphemic representations are developed, stored and retrieved instantaneously during reading (see Figure 1; Ehri 2014, 2015; Miles et al. 2019).

While it is clear that phonological decoding is an essential foundation of early reading acquisition, by Year 3, typically developing children will no longer read familiar words through the phonological route (i.e. phonological recoding) but instead via a direct letter to meaning route (Schmalz et al. 2013).



Once children develop a reasonable store of words that are effortlessly retrieved, they begin to transfer this knowledge of known words and spelling-sound relationships to help decode unknown words; this is referred to as the self-teaching hypothesis (Share 1995). According to the self-teaching hypothesis, each successful decoding encounter with an unfamiliar word provides an opportunity to acquire the word-specific orthographic information that is the foundation of skilled word recognition. Self-teaching enables independent reading of increasingly more complex words and texts.

> Research shows that children receiving synthetic phonics instruction learn a self-teaching technique that increases their word reading attainment over time.

> > Johnston et al. 2012

## Systematic synthetic phonics

Firm evidence has accumulated for the critical role of small unit instruction in reading acquisition for all students learning alphabetic orthographies. The evidence for the effectiveness of phonics instruction is extensive, with phonics instruction showing improved decoding, spelling and text comprehension in addition to being an effective intervention for poor readers (Ehri et al. 2001; Galuschka et al. 2014; McArthur et al. 2012). These instructional methods focus on phonemic awareness, systematic phonics instruction, and phonological recoding; applying knowledge of GPCs to read and spell (de Almeida Sargiani et al. 2021; Hulme and Snowling 2013). While phonics instruction is effective, studies have shown the superiority of systematic synthetic phonics instruction for developing more advanced reading and spelling skills in all children (de Graff et al. 2009; Johnston and Watson 2005; Johnston et al. 2012).

Consistent with the principles of learning, phonics instruction that is systematic explicitly teaches children the relationship between graphemes and phonemes in an alphabetic writing system, and in a highly structured and sequential way (Castles et al. 2018; Hempenstall 2016). Systematic phonics instruction should be viewed as a natural and logical consequence of the manner in which the alphabetic writing systems represent spoken language (Castles et al. 2018). Findings suggest that novice and intermediate students learning new information (for example, phoneme-grapheme relationships) require direct, unambiguous teaching to avoid cognitive overload (Kirschner et al. 2006).

Conversely, an embedded, incidental or literaturebased approach to teaching phonics involves incidentally pointing out letter-sound relationships in a text, and thus does not provide students with adequate exposure to the vast and complex lettersound patterns needed for consolidation. Research has shown that in order for all students to learn to read, implicit, incidental or embedded teaching of phonics is ineffective (Ryder et al. 2008; Buckingham et al. 2013) and fails to meet the needs of the majority of children who do not intuit phoneme-grapheme relationships (NICHD 2005; Rose 2006).

In systematic synthetic phonics, 'synthetic' emphasises the process of synthesising or blending the individual sounds together to make a word, and is known as a part-to-whole approach (Konza 2014).



GPCs are taught individually and in a specific sequence, usually beginning with a selection of vowels and consonants that can be combined to make numerous simple words. Children are also taught that segmenting and blending are reversible processes so they can segment a spoken word into its constituent phonemes in order to spell it (Rose 2006). Synthetic phonics instruction has been found to be beneficial to all students, including English-language learners, and children and adolescents with reading difficulties (Galuschka et al. 2014; Hempenstall 2016; Machin et al. 2018). Stronger effects for students from low socioeconomic backgrounds, and children who begin school with low levels of phonological awareness and emergent literacy skills have also been reported (Sonnenschein et al. 2010).

Synthetic phonics most closely aligns with the definition of decoding provided in the SVR – the overt sounding-out of a word, sometimes termed phonological decoding or alphabetic decoding (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). Children who do not make use of alphabetic decoding skills and lettersound relationships during word reading tasks remain relatively weak in their recognition of words, and experience progressive deterioration in their reading comprehension as a result (Tunmer and Nicholson 2011). Eye-tracking studies and research on the effect of letter position on reading rate shows that both novice and skilled readers attend to all of the letters in a word when reading, rather than memorising whole words by their shape (Grainger 2008). The synthetic phonics approach supports students to apply the highly important skill of blending (or synthesising) phonemes in order, all through a word to read it.

In contrast, analytic phonics instruction involves students analysing letter-sound relationships once the word is identified, taking clues from the recognition of the whole word, the initial sound and the context. While there is some conflicting evidence in the research around synthetic and analytical approaches to phonics instruction (Castles et al. 2018), inaccurate or incomplete reading of words may result from an analytical approach, and impact

students' ability to store the spellings of words in memory (Ehri 2020). Research shows systematic synthetic phonics is more effective in helping students learn to read than other methods lacking this instruction, such as whole language approaches or analytic phonics (Johnston et al. 2012; NELP 2008; Wanzek et al. 2018). Taught using synthetic phonics, students waste no time on word-guessing from semantic (meaning) or syntactic (sentence structure) cues (Torgerson et al. 2018), on rote-memorisation of sight words, on phonemic awareness training without letters, or on discovery learning (Ehri 2020). A comprehensive, systematic synthetic phonics program, as a part of the reading curriculum, has a major and long-lasting effect on children's reading and spelling attainment (Johnston et al. 2012).

### High frequency words

Sight word learning refers to acquiring both high frequency words and mental graphemic representations. While mental graphemic representations are learnt through the orthographic mapping process, high frequency words are learned through a second pathway known as paired associative learning. This requires the learner to memorise individual printed words and connect them to their meanings through a rote-learning task (Castles et al. 2018). In beginning reading instruction, where readers have been exposed to minimal phonic code, a small number of carefully selected high frequency words is taught (Dixon et al. 2002; Shapiro and Solity 2016).

High frequency words, words that occur often in spoken and written language, support a child's accessibility to decodable texts for meaningful rehearsal of learnt code. Instruction of high frequency words should include the study of the parts of the words that are familiar, whilst also noting any difficult or unknown parts and linking these to the pronunciation of the word. This is to avoid blind memorisation and word guessing and is consistent with the research on word recognition (Castles et al. 2018; Frost 1998; Katz and Frost 2001; Share 1995). Research indicates that using whole word memorisation of sight words is an inefficient and ineffective way to teach reading for both beginning and struggling readers.

Catts et al. 2017

### The role of decodable texts

The process of decoding is critical if children are to become independent readers (Hulme et al. 2012). Decoding, or phonological recoding, is the full sounding out of a word that is accomplished through matching the correct sound to each of a word's letters and then blending those sounds, left to right, to read the word. Rehearsal opportunities are provided in the form of phonically-controlled texts, known as 'decodable readers', where the text contains the specific GPCs that students have learnt.

Decodable texts provide readers with practice in applying their phonics knowledge and skills in connected text and increases the likelihood that students will use a decoding strategy (Cheatham and Allor 2012; Ehri 2020). This repeated practice, within a controlled context, builds automaticity, fluency and confidence allowing students to eventually direct all their cognitive energy to determining meaning (Konza 2014).

> The evidence is very clear that decodable text positively impacts early reading progress.

> > Cheatham and Allor 2012:2242

In contrast, the use of highly predictable texts when children are learning letter-sound relationships can be counterproductive. Predictable texts can deny students the opportunity of gaining mastery over the blending process, a critical step on the path to meaningful reading of an alphabetic language (Konza 2014). The role of decodable texts is to support beginning and struggling readers to master the code before they transition to independently reading curriculum texts and high-quality literature known as authentic texts. Throughout this beginning reading process, it is essential that students are continually exposed to authentic texts, rich in language and content, through shared reading experiences (Konza 2014).

### Orthographic depth

Systematic synthetic phonics instruction is not limited to the teaching of the initial code of simple graphemephoneme correspondences. Across alphabetic writing systems, there is a continuum of transparency known as orthographic depth (Broc et al. 2021). A transparent or shallow orthography has a simple one-to-one grapheme-phoneme correspondence while less transparent or opaque orthographies have more complex grapheme-phoneme relationships (Milankov et al. 2021). English has a deep orthography and the opacity and complexity of grapheme-phoneme relationships necessitates longer periods of explicit instruction compared to more transparent languages such as Spanish (Broc et al. 2021).

As students advance beyond the initial code, systematic synthetic phonics instruction emphasises structural analysis of multisyllabic words. This incorporates orthographic knowledge (understanding of the writing system) and morphological knowledge (understanding word parts and their meanings) (Beck et al. 2021; Ehri 2020). As a morphophonemic language, English spelling patterns are governed by morphological as well as phonological structures, and reflect the historical origins (especially Saxon, Latin, and Greek) of English words and morphemes (Scarborough and Brady 2002). By Year 3 or 4, students are exposed to an estimated 20 000 new multisyllabic words in print per year (Hiebert et al. 2005; Kearns et al. 2016). As children encounter these longer, more complex words,

the spelling patterns governed by morphology become critical for developing good literacy skills (Carlisle 2003). Morphological knowledge has been found to facilitate word recognition skills in both children and adults with and without reading difficulties (Apel et al. 2013; Carlisle et al. 2001; Deacon and Kirby 2004; Elbro and Arnbak 1996; Nagy et al. 1989; Nunes et al. 2006).

> Research suggests that by 10 years of age, knowledge about the structure of words is a better predictor of decoding ability than phonological awareness.

> > Mann and Singson 2003

### Fluency for comprehension

Accuracy and automaticity of word reading rely on systematic, synthetic phonics combined with repeated rehearsal of the decoding process in order to build a sight vocabulary for fluent reading. While explicit phonics and phonemic awareness instruction will lead to efficient word reading, text reading fluency does not always spontaneously follow (Hudson et al. 2005). Reading fluency is generally defined as having three components: accuracy, the sounding out of words with minimal errors; rate, the effortless and automatic recognition and production of a word; and prosody, which refers to the way readers use appropriate rhythm, tone, pitch, pauses and stresses while reading (Álvarez-Cañizo et al. 2015; Elhassan et al. 2015; Kuhn and Stahl 2003).

The importance of reading fluency surfaces when considering the cognitive demand of comprehension of written text. When students are first learning how to read, many of their cognitive resources are utilised in decoding individual words. As they become skilled readers and recognise words automatically, word reading becomes more fluent, allowing more cognitive resources to be applied to the task of comprehending connected text



(Adlof et al. 2006; Fuchs et al. 2001; LaBerge and Samuels 1974). Converging empirical evidence shows the important relationship between reading fluency and reading comprehension (Chard et al. 2002; Fuchs et al. 2001; Jenkins et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2011; Riedel 2007; Silverman et al. 2013).

> Fluent readers are able to decode words quickly and accurately, freeing up cognitive resources to focus their attention on the meaning of the text.

> Hudson et al. 2005; National Research Council 1998

Well-researched and effective instructional practices include modelled fluent reading by the teacher or another fluent reader (Rasinski 2003), repeated reading of texts with assistance and coaching (National Reading Panel 2000; Padeliadu and Giatzidou 2018; Rasinski et al. 2009) and paired reading (Rasinski and Hoffman 2003).

## Language comprehension

Texts that younger readers encounter in the early years of reading development depend more on word reading than understanding individual word meanings or higher-level language skills (Shiel et al. 2012). As word reading becomes automatic however, language skills serve as a more critical determinant of reading comprehension (Adlof et al. 2006; LARRC and Logan 2017). Therefore, it may not be until Year 4 or later that the impacts of vocabulary and text structure knowledge on reading comprehension become apparent (Shiel et al. 2012).

## Constructing mental models

The oral language skills that contribute to language comprehension can be referred to as lower and higher-level language skills (Hogan et al. 2011). The lower-level language skills of vocabulary and syntax are used to construct the literal meaning of a text and provide the foundation for the higher-level skills of text structure, inferencing, and comprehension monitoring (Hogan et al. 2014). The different aspects of vocabulary, syntax, text structure, inference, comprehension monitoring, and background knowledge, support language comprehension through the development of a mental (situation) model (Kintsch and Kintsch 2005; Such 2021).

A student's ongoing understanding of a text depends on their knowledge of the world, particularly that which is related to the situation being described in the text, and their vocabulary knowledge (Castles et al. 2018). Higher-level language skills are required to construct a more accurate and

deeper understanding of what the author has written (Hogan et al. 2011). As students progress through a text, it becomes equally important that they can update their mental model by suppressing information that is irrelevant while maintaining information that is essential (Castles et al. 2018). Thus, when students read or listen to a text, they actively build and constantly update their mental model in real time, integrating new information and relevant background knowledge with their existing mental model as the text unfolds (Hogan et al. 2014; Kintsch 2009). This mental model culminates in a rich interpretation of the text that goes beyond what is explicitly stated, and that changes through growth, reorganisation and error correction (Hogan et al. 2014; Kintsch 2009; Nation 2019).

## Background knowledge

Chief among the factors influencing reading comprehension is background knowledge. Background knowledge includes all of the world knowledge that the reader brings to the task of reading (Smith et al. 2021). Research clearly shows that how much readers know about a text's topic has a major impact on how much they understand the text (Catts 2021). For many years, the primary way background knowledge has been addressed has been through activating knowledge using strategies such as prereading discussions, concept maps, and anticipation guides. These strategies can be effective, but only if the appropriate knowledge is available. If a student's background knowledge is inaccurate, this activation can in fact be detrimental to comprehension (Catts 2021).

> Many children lack the basic background knowledge required for comprehending academic text even if they 'know' all the vocabulary words contained in them.

> > Hirsch 2003; Smith et al. 2021



Higher levels of background knowledge have a range of effects that are influenced by the nature of the text, the quality of the mental model required, and the presence of reader misconceptions about the text (Smith et al. 2021). Background knowledge impacts differentially on stronger and weaker readers, and affects the quality of the mental model formed during reading (Smith et al. 2021). The stronger and more detailed the background knowledge, the stronger the mental model of the text will be. Accordingly, readers with lower background knowledge appear to benefit from texts with high cohesion, while weaker readers are able to compensate for less skilled reading in the context of a higher degree of background knowledge (Smith et al. 2021).

It is important to understand that background knowledge cannot fully compensate for less skilled reading, particularly in the later years of school (Hirsch 2016). This reinforces the importance of explicitly teaching background knowledge as the foundation to increasing the reading proficiency of all students, rather than relying on the development of a stronger knowledge base (Catts and Kamhi 2017; Smith et al. 2021). As Smith et al. (2021) state, it is clear that background knowledge is not just an incidental aspect of effective reading instruction. Instead, all children can benefit from the teaching of background knowledge in a systematic, explicit, and sequential way (Connor et al. 2017; Kim et al. 2021). The differential impacts of background knowledge on reading comprehension also highlight the importance of selecting valuable texts that considers text type, text complexity, and opportunities to learn from the text (Smith et al. 2021).

### Vocabulary knowledge

To understand a text, students must understand the words it contains (Hogan et al. 2014). Vocabulary knowledge and reading comprehension are strongly related (Duff 2019; Muter et al. 2004; Peng et al. 2018; Perfetti 2007; Spencer et al. 2019). Research has shown that vocabulary knowledge is a strong predictor of future reading success (NELP 2008), and of broader academic and



vocational achievement (Beck et al. 2013; Clarke et al. 2014). Vocabulary knowledge during the school years has also been found to have strong links with both word recognition and reading comprehension (Hiebert and Kami 2005).

> Lower-level language skills, particularly vocabulary, are primary predictors of later language and reading comprehension.

> > Hulme and Snowling 2011; Justice et al. 2013

Vocabulary has a bidirectional influence on reading comprehension (Castles et al. 2018; Cunningham 2005; Duff 2019). Vocabulary includes not just the number of individual words known, but how well they are known and how flexibly they can be used in a given context (Castles et al. 2018). Students who lack adequate vocabulary knowledge may have difficulty understanding what is read, and as a result, may read less. Poor word recognition skills (including phonemic awareness, phonics, and fluency) have also been found to contribute to the gap between how much skilled readers and weaker readers will read, and subsequently, the new vocabulary that they will encounter. Thus, students with reading difficulties may read less and subsequently not develop the vocabulary knowledge needed to gain meaning from what is read (Beck et al. 2021).

The National Reading Panel (2000) recommends both incidental and intentional or explicit vocabulary instruction to improve reading comprehension. While some students will acquire new vocabulary incidentally, explicit instruction of vocabulary increases reading comprehension for all students, with the largest effect for students at risk of, or experiencing reading difficulties (Clarke et al. 2010; Elleman et al. 2009). Explicit vocabulary instruction is a high impact strategy in which students are provided with definitional and contextual information about words; multiple encounters and interactions with words; and opportunities to generate contexts for words (Beck et al. 2021; National Reading Panel 2000; Wright and Cervetti 2017). In an Australian study, explicit instruction of words drawn from the Australian Curriculum was shown to provide increased gains in vocabulary knowledge, relative to control classrooms where vocabulary instruction was incidental (Westerveld et al. 2020). The ability to acquire and express vocabulary is key to improved and sustained reading comprehension. All students, even those with advanced language and reading skills, can benefit from explicit vocabulary instruction (Adlof 2019; McKeown 2019).

## Syntactic knowledge

Understanding the basic structure of a sentence is the foundation for understanding grammar and syntax (Eberhardt 2019). Sentences are one of the structural properties used to predict text difficulty and provide the linguistic environment in which readers make decisions about word meaning, punctuation, and the impact of morphology (Eberhardt 2019). Several studies have shown syntactic and grammatical knowledge are predictive of later reading comprehension (Logan 2017). As students progress through the school years, learning increasingly takes place in the context of language that is content-specific, written not spoken, and expository rather than narrative. Children with weaknesses in syntactical knowledge have difficulty understanding written sentences, particularly in the later stages of reading development when they are exposed to more linguistically complex texts (Tunmer and Hoover 2019).

Research suggests teaching syntax and grammar rules in the context of students' own writing, rather than through rote memorisation, can improve reading performance (Andrews et al. 2006). Sentence combining has been found to be an effective technique for helping students to create more complex sentences. Effective sentencecombining tasks involve presenting short sentences that are combined into one longer sentence by deleting, inserting, or switching parts of sentences (Andrews et al. 2006).



### Text structure knowledge

Texts differ in terms of purpose, linguistic features, text cohesion, and text coherence (Halliday and Hasan 2014). Cohesion (microstructure) is the link between phrases and sentences. Coherence (macrostructure) is the extent to which a text provides information to help the reader relate information across different parts of the text (Graesser et al. 2003). To be able to form an accurate mental model and understand written text, readers must be able to recognise relationships across both sentences and larger units of text (Smith et al. 2021). Research suggests that increasing students' knowledge of text structure facilitates their ability to attend to the most salient details in a text, thereby increasing reading comprehension (Gersten et al. 2001; Hogan et al. 2011).

> Narrative macrostructure predicted reading comprehension skills beyond what would be expected by decoding skills and linguistic components of narrative microstructure such as syntax and morphology.

> > Barton-Hulsey et al. 2017

Text structure is typically described according to two types of written work: narrative texts and expository texts. Although some characteristics between them overlap, the structural patterns are quite different (Hebert et al. 2016). In reading narrative texts, readers rely on the presence of conventional features and familiar structures, including setting, characters, actions, feelings, and resolution (Hebert et al. 2016). Conversely, comprehending expository texts requires students to make inferences, solve problems, reason, and to use complex and varied text structures in ways that are not commonly needed in narrative texts (Snow 2002).



Reading expository texts enables students to build the background knowledge necessary to understand content information in Year 4 and beyond (Saenz and Fuchs 2002). Research with younger and older students has shown that explicit instruction in expository text structure can improve reading comprehension, as it supports the reader to organise facts and ideas in ways that assist retention and recall (Duke and Pearson 2002; Williams 2005; Williams and Pao 2011). Explicit instruction in different text structures with visual representations has also been found to result in larger effect sizes for comprehension (Hebert et al. 2016). Text structure knowledge reduces the demands on working memory capacities, allowing the reader to comprehend texts more efficiently (Kieras 1978; Pentimonti and Justice 2010).

### Comprehension monitoring

Comprehension monitoring is the ability to reflect on one's own understanding of a text. Skilled readers are typically aware of how well they are comprehending as they read or listen to texts. When good readers experience difficulty, they automatically use a variety of strategies such as rereading to increase their comprehension (Hogan et al. 2011; Pressley and Afflerbach 1995). It is important to note however, that a failure to comprehend or to identify inconsistencies may in fact stem from a lack of background knowledge, rather than a failure to monitor comprehension (Smith et al. 2021). Because of the importance of comprehension monitoring to reading, this strategy requires explicit instruction. Comprehension monitoring can be taught in a relatively short period of time or in a content-focused approach to reading (such as Questioning the Author), with positive impacts on reading comprehension outcomes (Oakhill et al. 2014). Questioning the Author (Beck et al. 2021) is where the teacher reads the text little by little, pausing at predetermined points to facilitate active student engagement and discussion. Students' comprehension is also monitored to ensure they understand the content and the author's intent (Beck et al. 2021; Beck and McKeown 2006).

### Inferential comprehension

Inference is a critical skill for effective reading comprehension (Bishop 2014; Cain et al. 2001; van Kleeck 2008). The ability to infer meaning from text has been found to be a predictor of reading comprehension at various developmental stages and is one of the drivers of sophisticated reading ability (Cain and Oakhill 1999; Oakhill and Cain 2007; Smith et al. 2021). Inference is also linked to the other skills that underpin language comprehension, where each inference is the result of a student's knowledge of words and syntax, knowledge of the world, and knowledge of text structures (Such 2021). The lowerlevel language skills of vocabulary and grammar are suggested to be a precursor to developing inferential comprehension (Hogan et al. 2011). The ability to make inferences also relies heavily on having the appropriate background knowledge (McNamara and Magliano 2009). Inferencing requires readers to go beyond what is explicitly stated and 'fill in the gaps' to construct a rich mental model (Bowyer-Crane and Snowling 2005). In comparison with weaker readers, skilled readers make a greater number of inferences while creating mental models of a text. The inability to accurately draw inferences results in constructing mental models that are incomplete or inadequate, which in turn, affects reading comprehension (Cain et al. 2001).



Research on how to support the ability to make and understand inferential language has drawn on a large research base, which shows that shared reading presents a salient opportunity to systematically and explicitly develop children's skills in a variety of language domains (Hogan et al. 2011). Even young children are able to generate inferences (van Kleeck et al. 2006; Zucker et al. 2010) and it is the teacher's use of inferential language during shared book reading that directly elicits inferencing from students (Justice and Ezell 2002; Penno et al. 2002). Teaching children about the need to make inferences is also a key aspect of comprehension monitoring and supports all children's understanding of text (Francey and Cain 2015).

## Reciprocity of reading and writing

Reading and writing share a close and reciprocal relationship and while they are not identical skills, they draw on many of the same knowledges and skills at various linguistic levels (phonemic, orthographic, semantic, syntactic and pragmatic) (Fitzgerald and Shanahan 2000; Langer and Flihan 2000). Consequently, reading instruction improves overall writing performance, writing quality, amount written and spelling (Graham et al. 2018). Similarly, when students write about the content that they have read across genres, subjects, and year levels, their understanding of the material improves and their learning enhances (Graham et al. 2020).

Word-level skills such as word reading and spelling draw on essentially the same component skills of phonological awareness, orthographic knowledge and awareness, and morphological awareness (Carlisle and Katz 2006; Kim 2010; Kim et al. 2013; Schatschneider et al. 2004; Treiman 1993) Graham and Santangelo (2014) reported that spelling instruction enhanced students' reading skills (i.e. word reading and reading comprehension). Similarly, the explicit decoding of words enhanced orthographic facilitation to better secure spellings to pronunciations along with meanings in memory (Chambrè et al. 2020).

Reading comprehension and written composition also share a similar set of skills. Language comprehension and oral expression rely on lower-level oral language skills (vocabulary and grammatical knowledge), higher-level language skills (reasoning, inference, perspective taking, monitoring), text structure, background knowledge and cognitive processes (working memory, attention) (Ahmed et al. 2014; Berninger and Abbott 2010; Cain et al. 2004; Cromley and Azevedo 2007; Kim et al. 2011, 2014, 2015; Kim and Schatschneider 2017). Several meta-analyses have found that students writing about content they have read can facilitate comprehension of the material (Bangert-Drowns et al. 2004; Graham and Perin 2007; Graham and Hebert 2011) as writing

is a tool for permanently and visibly recording, analysing, evaluating, and modifying the content or ideas in the text.

While writing and writing instruction should not replace reading instruction, the positive impact of writing about material read; increased time spent writing; and explicit instruction in writing is evident (Graham and Hebert 2011). The effects of writing and writing instruction on reading are likely to be minimised if students write infrequently or receive little instruction in how to write (Brindle et al. 2016; Graham 2019). Therefore, bi-directional, evidencebased instructional practices in both reading and writing instruction should be used consistently and frequently to support reading-writing connections (Graham et al. 2018). The reciprocity between spoken and written language in the school years is an area of instruction in which speech language pathologists and educators can intentionally collaborate to optimise outcomes (Snow 2020).



## A rights-based approach

## Inclusive education

Inclusive education is a human right under Article 24 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disability and has been ratified by the Australian government (Graham 2020). Children experience inclusive education when they can access and fully participate in learning with their similar-aged peers, supported by reasonable adjustments and teaching strategies that meet the individual's needs (Department of Education 2021; Graham 2020; United Nations Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2016). Reading is a right, implicit to the right to education, and is a mechanism for the pursuit of other human rights. (Graham 2020). Effective reading instruction draws on the key principles of universal design, using the most equitable and efficient teaching practices to ensure all children in a class become literate, including the most disadvantaged (Snow et al. 2021).

The literacy learning needs of beginning readers necessarily vary because they differ in the amount of reading-related knowledge, skills, and experiences they bring to the classroom; in the explicitness and intensity of instruction they need to acquire the knowledge and skills for identifying words and comprehending text; and in their location along the developmental progression from pre-reader to skilled reader (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). These considerations underscore the importance of quality teaching and differentiated instruction that meets the learning needs of all students (Arrow et al. 2015). Differentiation involves 'proactively planning varied approaches to what and how students learn, in order to be inclusive of the full range of student diversity' (Graham 2020:185). Differentiation and inclusion are highly interdependent. Inclusion cannot succeed without quality differentiation (Graham 2020).

Inclusive education produces superior academic and social outcomes for all students (de Bruin 2019). However, it has long been recognised that curriculum, pedagogy, and assessment can present barriers for children with disability to participate in, and benefit from education (Norwich 2013). Existing pedagogical frameworks and measures are based on what has been shown to work with most, rather than all students (Graham et al. 2022). Understanding evidence-based practices in the teaching of reading, therefore, is essential to reducing educational inequities (Gillon et al. 2019, 2022). As Graham (2020) asserts, strategies that make schools inclusive for students with disability benefit every student.

## Multi-tiered systems of support

Multi-tiered systems of support (MTSS) is a systematic improvement framework in which continuous data-based problem-solving and decision-making is practised across all levels of the school system (Brown-Chidsey and Bickford 2016; Clark and Dockweiler 2019). MTSS targets the 'whole child' and is designed to provide three tiers of instructional intensity to meet the academic, socioemotional, and behavioural aspects of all students (McKenna et al. 2021; Sailor et al. 2020). This includes improving the reading outcomes of every student (Gillon et al. 2022).

MTSS is a way of thinking that utilises high impact, evidence-based pedagogical practices to ensure every student receives the appropriate level of support, instructional intervention and adjustments to be successful (Snow et al. 2021). Across all tiers, the need for reduced or increased levels of adjustment is identified through the consistent collection of data using progress monitoring tools that assess targeted reading skills (Hughes and Dexter 2011).

Research has highlighted several key aspects to quality differentiated first teaching of reading, including the explicit and systematic teaching of skills and knowledge such as letter-sound correspondences (Denton 2008). Such approaches that are proactive and preventative build in highquality teaching of reading for diverse learners from the outset, rather than waiting for challenges to emerge that then require intervention (Clark and Dockweiler 2019; Gillon et al. 2022; Graham 2020). It takes four times as many resources to resolve a literacy problem by Year 4 than it does in Year 1.

Pfeiffer et al. 2001

Research shows evidence-informed teaching and early intervention can lead to high levels of oral language and reading achievement for all students, including at-risk or vulnerable students (Buckingham et al. 2013; Gillon et al. 2022). MTSS is an effective way for schools to provide differentiation, accurate identification, and increased reading instruction for all students on an equitable and efficient basis (Bridges 2011; Gillon et al. 2022; Graham 2020).



## Factors impacting on reading

## A complex multidimensional process

Reading comprehension itself is a complex multidimensional process (Catts 2018; Catts and Kamhi 2014). The SVR deals directly with factors that have a causal relationship with reading comprehension (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). However, a number of protective factors indirectly impact reading acquisition and contribute to the overall learning profile of a student (Tunmer and Hoover 2019).

Reading difficulties can co-occur with other neurodevelopmental disorders. For example, research shows high rates of co-occurrence between dyslexia and mathematics disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, developmental language disorder, speech sound disorder, developmental coordination disorder, and with disorders of mental health such as anxiety and depression (Snowling and Hulme 2021).

### Linguistic factors

Language difficulties play a critical role in reading disorders, with difficulty at one or more levels of the language system often at the core of reading, spelling, and writing difficulty (Catts et al. 2005; Nation and Snowling 2004; Serry et al. 2015). The SVR can be used as a framework to distinguish between different types of reading difficulties and where reading difficulties stem from: problems with word reading, difficulty comprehending, or both (Gough and Tunmer 1986). All three varieties of reading disorder result in poor reading comprehension but for different reasons.

Children with difficulties in decoding but intact language comprehension skills are described as having dyslexia. Dyslexia is a language-based reading disorder, stemming from an impairment in the phonological component of language (Snowling and Hulme 2021). Students may have difficulties with

accurate and fluent word reading and spelling, but can learn to read given intensive, evidence-based intervention over time (Lyon et al. 2003). Conversely, children with adequate decoding skills but poor language comprehension may have difficulty understanding what is read, despite appearing to read accurately and at an appropriate rate (Landi and Ryherd 2017; Nation 2019; Nippold 2017). While students with poor language comprehension typically make a strong start when learning to read in the early years, comprehension difficulties become more evident as students move into the middle and upper primary years, particularly as the complexity of texts increases. These students may also show language comprehension difficulties across vocabulary, grammar, and narrative skills (Catts et al. 2006; Woolley 2011). A third group of children, including many with developmental language disorders, present with both decoding and language comprehension difficulties (Bishop and Snowling 2004).

### **Cognitive factors**

Reading is a complex process that is affected by several cognitive factors (Yildiz and Çetinkaya 2017). Cognitive factors such as working memory, phonological processing skills — including rapid automatic naming, executive functions and attention — are strong predictors of reading abilities and as such are important considerations for a student learning to read (Gathercole et al. 2006; St Clair-Thompson and Gathercole 2006; Yildiz and Çetinkaya 2017).

The process of learning to read is highly integrated with working memory — the capacity to temporarily retain and manipulate information (Gathercole and Alloway 2008). For comprehension to occur, the working memory must not be too heavily burdened (Smith et al. 2021). While there is no causal relationship between working memory and reading comprehension (Gray et al. 2019), working memory may explain some of the variance in reading and writing performance in primary school children (Berninger et al. 2010; Swanson and Berninger 1996). Executive function is a term used to describe a collection of higher order abilities that enable goaldirected behaviour, including initiating, planning, organising, and self-monitoring (Fisher et al 2019). There are many reasons students may experience executive function weaknesses, with executive functioning difficulties having been reported in a variety of developmental and neurological disorders (Ozonoff 1997) and among children from unpredictable home environments (Snow 2020). Compromised executive functioning may impede a child's ability to attend to, and engage with the teacher's instructions.

Emotional self-regulation is a critical executive functioning skill for social and academic success (Perry et al. 1995; Snow 2020) that relies on early infant attachment and adult-child bonding established in stable home environments (Newman et al. 2015; Perry et al. 1995; Snow 2009). Evidence suggests that behaviour regulation, including the child's ability to focus attention and engage in inhibitory control mechanisms (Cain and Oakhill 2006; Morrison et al. 2010), influences young children's language and reading progress (Duncan et al. 2007; Schmitt et al. 2012).

Attention can act as a protective factor in early word reading. An individual's ability to sustain attention facilitates the improvement of cognitive text comprehension (Smallwood et al. 2008) and is required to analyse sentences in reading material (Alloway et al. 2014; Sesma et al. 2009).



### Genetic and medical factors

Genetic factors can contribute important evidence to a child's reading profile (Sanfilippo et al. 2020). There is a strong heritability of dyslexia: 50% of individuals with a first-degree relative with dyslexia also have the disorder (Snowling and Melby-Lervag 2016). Hearing is a key protective factor in developing reading proficiency (Colenbrander et al. 2018). Children with mild to moderate or unilateral deafness as well as those with a history of fluctuating hearing loss due to glue ear (repeated middle ear infections also known as otitis media with effusion) are also at greater risk of language and reading difficulties (Carroll and Breadmore 2018). Age-appropriate language and speech production skills are both protective factors for reading development with a diagnosis of developmental language disorder (Snowling et al. 2019) or speech sound disorder (Burgoyne et al. 2019; McLeod et al. 2017) heightening the risk of reading difficulties.

## **Psychological factors**

Comprehension entails three elements: the reader who is doing the comprehending; the text that is to be comprehended; and the activity in which comprehension is a part. Psychological factors that the reader brings to the process include motivation to learn to read, interest in reading and selfperception (Aaron et al. 2008). Engaged reading is highly associated with reading achievement (Morgan and Fuchs 2007; Retelsdorf et al. 2011). Therefore, understanding the role motivation plays in reading is essential for planning effective instruction (Wigfield and Guthrie 2000). Students who are motivated to read are more likely to process what they are reading more actively and deeply than unmotivated students (Wigfield and Guthrie 2000). Motivation for reading often develops early in life during the emergent literacy stage. Studies have shown that parents' identification of pleasure as a reason for reading, predicts motivation for reading in young, school-aged children (Katzir et al. 2009).



Research indicates that self-concept positively relates to reading comprehension in primaryschool-aged students (Chapman and Tunmer 1995; Chapman and Tunmer 2003), even after controlling for the children's verbal ability and word-reading ability (Katzir et al. 2009). Early success or difficulty in learning to read is linked to reading self-concept so if children experience success in reading, they will be motivated to attempt more difficult tasks.

It is important that children are aware of not only the benefit of learning to read in relation to academic success but that reading can be a 'delightful' and 'desirable' endeavour (Cremin 2007; Cremin et al. 2014). Much research points to the importance of developing positive classroom environments with effective communities of readers (Cremin et al. 2014). The social aspect of reading, when supported, results in stronger engagement and consequently higher achievement across all aspects of schooling (Ivey 2014).

> If children have challenges in learning to read, their reading selfconcept may weaken and these children may lose motivation in reading-related tasks.

> > Katzir et al. 2009

## Instructional environment

## Systematic and explicit instruction

Three national inquiries (NELP 2008; Rose 2006; Rowe 2005) into reading instruction in the last two decades have affirmed the linguistic basis of learning to read, together with the need for all children to be explicitly taught the alphabetic principle, and how phonemes and graphemes map to each other (Snow 2021). In the school years, explicit attention to morphology (and etymology) is critical because English is a morphophonemic language and the ability to grasp the intricacies of the English writing system hinges on a child's ability to segment words into phonemes and morphemes for both reading and spelling (Moats 2010).

Explicit or direct instruction is characterised by planned and sequenced lessons; clear and detailed instructions and modelling; and frequent, systematic monitoring and feedback (Rupley et al. 2009). This approach acknowledges that learning is a cumulative and systematic process, and that students need to master foundational skills before moving onto more complex tasks (National Reading Panel 2000). These key elements of effective instruction are designed to maximise student understanding, retention, and transfer of skills and knowledge (Archer and Hughes 2011). During the first years of schooling, emphasis is placed on the explicit instruction of the knowledge and skills required for reading development for all students, which should at the very least include systematic phonics instruction (Fuchs et al. 2008; Hempenstall 2016). Despite explicit instruction being the superior method of instruction, fewer than half of all teachers are using it in their classrooms (Australian Education Research Organisation 2021).

> Explicit teaching practices involve teachers clearly showing students what to do and how to do it, rather than having students discover or construct information for themselves.

> > Clark et al. 2012

## Cognitive load theory

Cognitive load theory provides theoretical and empirical support for explicit models of instruction (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation 2017). It incorporates a model of how working memory functions during learning tasks, including reading (Sweller 1994; Sweller et al. 2019). During any learning event, the limited capacity of working memory acts to constrain the transfer of information to long-term memory. The number of units being processed in working memory at any one time is known as the cognitive load, with a greater number and/or complexity of information units resulting in a higher load (Smith et al. 2021; Sweller et al. 2019).

Unlike spoken language, which has evolved over millions of years, learning to read is a relatively recent advance in human development (Snow 2016). The human brain has not had the time to develop specialised pathways for learning to read, and instead, has repurposed parts of the brain (Dehaene-Lambertz et al. 2018). Put simply, reading is a learned secondary behaviour, a taught skill. Different from primary knowledge, secondary knowledge such as reading is acquired with conscious effort by students and explicit teaching by teachers (Geary 2008; Sweller et al. 2019). Cognitive load theory suggests that in order to facilitate transfer of information to long-term memory, instruction provided by teachers should be explicit and detailed (Sweller et al. 2019). The importance of cognitive load is critical when planning for systematic reading instruction and enables teachers to control the demands of the instructional environment.

## Professional collaboration

Collaborative relationships across all three instructional tiers of MTSS is key to improving children's reading abilities (Snow 2016). Professional collaboration in schools may take many forms and involve various stakeholders, including students, parents/carers, teachers, and speech pathologists. Research shows that collaborative approaches benefit both students and the professionals involved (McKean et al. 2017). Leveraging the skills available within, and between, schools can also contribute significantly to student learning success within inclusive school contexts (Graham 2020).

Within the educational team, speech pathologists are positioned to understand the developmental significance of language and reading acquisition in childhood and adolescence (Snow and Powell 2004; Bridges 2011). By working within MTSS and understanding the development of reading, teachers and speech pathologists are able to accurately identify and appropriately support students at risk of, or experiencing reading difficulties (Bridges 2011).

Using a differential diagnostic process, educational teams are able to profile an individual student's strengths and challenges in word reading and language comprehension, and the skills that underpin both components (Tunmer and Hoover 2019). Such profiling of what the student knows and what they need to learn next to become a skilled reader informs the provision of evidence-based reading instruction, intervention, and accommodations that meets the needs of the student (Hoover and Tunmer 2021).



Sharing responsibility and engaging in collective problem-solving and joint action, ensures the varying literacy learning needs of all students are addressed from the outset (Graham 2020).

## Conclusion

Reading comprehension is central to academic success as it underpins content-area learning in all subjects (Smith et al. 2021) and is associated with better further education and employment outcomes (Castles et al. 2018). Access to effective reading instruction is important for students of all ages, but is particularly crucial in the first three years of schooling to ensure that every student becomes a proficient reader (Fuchs et al. 2008; Partanen and Seigel 2014). This literature review provides current and future teachers, allied health professionals, and system and school leaders with the basis through which informed decisions for effective reading instruction can be made. While there is substantial progress in understanding reading acquisition, further research findings continue to emerge. Accordingly, this review provides the foundation for future collaborative work in defining the scope and application of research to support the effective teaching of reading within an inclusive education context. Reading instruction that aligns with the best available research evidence is the most efficient and equitable way to teach all children to read and succeed at school.

## Recommendations

1	Use the Simple View of Reading (SVR) (Gough and Tunmer 1986) as an empirically-grounded framework to guide the effective teaching of reading in Queensland State Schools and for supporting teachers' decision-making about evidence-based instruction that addresses every student's literacy learning needs.
2	Embed the effective teaching of reading, using evidence-based and inclusive pedagogical practices within a whole-school approach.
3	Build the capability of Queensland Department of Education system and school leaders and educators to implement, with precision and rigour, an approach to the teaching of reading that is inclusive and evidence- informed, and that realises the potential of every student.

## Glossary

#### Academic text

A specialised text from a given field using formal language.

#### Alphabetic principle

The understanding that the written code is based on alphabet letters or graphemes mapping onto phonemes in words.

#### Analytic phonics

A method of reading instruction that relies on children analysing whole words to find patterns of sounds between them and memorising sight words to decode other words.

#### Authentic text

Authentic texts are an essential component for growth in language and content knowledge. They are: not predictable; written to be read aloud, with support or independently; read for any purpose; and used across childhood and into adolescence.

#### Background knowledge

The knowledge gained from the sum of a reader's worldly experiences and that relates to the text being read.

#### Blending

The process of combining individual sounds to form a word.

#### Cognitive load

The number of units being processed in working memory at any one time.

#### Comprehension monitoring

The process of becoming aware of one's own understanding while reading and detecting inconsistencies in a text.

#### Decodable text

Books used for beginning reading instruction in which the majority of the sound-spelling correspondences are ones that a student has already been explicitly taught.

#### Decode

To assign a phoneme (sound) to each grapheme (spelling) in a written word and blend those phonemes to read the word.

#### Developmental language disorder

A neurodevelopmental condition, characterised by persistent difficulties in the ability to learn and use language that cannot be attributed to a biomedical condition.

#### Dyslexia

A reading disability characterised by word reading difficulties, stemming from an impairment in the phonological component of language.

#### Encode

To segment (separate) a word into all its individual phonemes (sounds) and assign a grapheme to each of those phonemes.

#### Etymology

The study of words, their roots, and how the meaning of words have evolved over time.

#### **Explicit instruction**

A systematic method of teaching which emphasises proceeding in small steps, checking for student understanding, and achieving active and successful participation by every student.

#### Extended/advanced code

The sound-spelling correspondences that are taught after the most common spellings for each sound (initial/basic code) have been taught.

#### Fluency

The ability to read with accuracy, automaticity, and appropriate prosody.

#### Grammar

The rules of a language that govern the forms of words used in context (morphology) and how words can be combined in sentences (syntax).

#### Grapheme

A letter or group of letters that represent a single phoneme in a word.

## Grapheme-phoneme correspondence

The systematic relationship between a phoneme and its corresponding grapheme/s.

#### High frequency words

Words that most frequently appear in spoken and written English. They can contain simple or more complex phonic code.

#### Incidental instruction

A method of teaching that highlights elements of language as they appear in a text and does not make use of a predetermined teaching sequence.

#### Inclusive education

Student experience inclusive education when they can access and fully participate in learning, alongside their similar-aged peers, supported by reasonable adjustments and teaching strategies tailored to meet their individual needs.

## Inferential comprehension

The ability to integrate text information with background knowledge to work out something that is not explicitly stated.

#### Initial/basic code

The sound-spelling correspondences that are taught first in systematic phonics instruction, including the most common spellings for each phoneme (sound).

#### Linguistic system

The understanding that the units used in aparticular language are structured according to pre-established rules.

#### Language comprehension

Refers to the ability to derive meaning from spoken words when they are part of sentences or text. In the context of the Simple View of Reading, language comprehension is called by several other names in various studies including listening comprehension, linguistic comprehension and comprehension.

#### Literacy

A broad set of skills, including reading, writing, spelling, and the ability to produce and engage with a variety of texts across the curriculum in all year levels.

#### Literal comprehension

The ability to understand information that is explicitly stated in a text.

#### Mental graphemic representations

Stored mental forms of a written word that are made by connecting the orthographic (spellings), phonological (pronunciations), and semantic (meanings) knowledge of the word.

#### Mental model

A mentally constructed view of the situation being described by the text in which meaning is created and updated through a process of personalisation, prioritisation, and integration.

#### Morpheme

The smallest unit of meaning in language.

#### Morphology

The study of the structure of words and word parts.

#### Morphophonemic language

Describes a language, such as English, where written words or spellings are constructed through mappings of sounds (phonemes) and meaningful word parts (morphemes).

#### Multi-tiered systems of support

A systematic, continuous improvement framework that is designed to provide three tiers of instructional intensity to meet the academic, socioemotional, and behavioural aspects of each student.

#### Narrative

The ability to understand and produce extended discourse that describes real or fictional events.

#### Oral language

Also known as spoken language, includes speaking (expressive) and listening (receptive). Oral language consists of phonology, semantics, syntax, morphology, and pragmatics.

#### Orthographic depth

The extent to which there is a simple, one-to-one correspondence between sounds and spellings in a language. Languages with a deep (or opaque) orthography, such as English, have multiple spellings that can represent a given sound and multiple sounds that can be represented by a given spelling.

#### Orthographic mapping

The process through which the spellings of words are mapped to the meaning and pronunciation of words already stored in a reader's long-term memory. It is facilitated through repeated decoding and is used to store words for immediate, effortless retrieval.

#### Orthography

The spelling system of a language.

#### Phoneme

The smallest unit of sound in speech.

#### Phonemic awareness

The ability to identify and manipulate individual sounds (phonemes) within words; it is one aspect of phonological awareness. Blending and segmenting are the key phonemic awareness skills.

#### Phonics

The relationship between sounds and their spellings in an alphabetic writing system. Students use knowledge of sound-spelling correspondences to decode words in reading and encode words in spelling.

#### Phonological awareness

The ability to identify and manipulate parts of spoken language, such as the individual sounds in words (phonemes), syllables, and whole words.

#### Phonological processing

The ability to use the sounds in one's language to process spoken and written language. Phonological processing includes phonological awareness, phonological memory, and rapid automatic naming.

#### Phonological working memory

The ability to encode, hold, and retrieve soundbased information in short-term memory.

#### Rapid automatised naming

The ability to quickly access information from long-term memory, such as numbers, letters, colours, or objects.

#### Reading

The ability to decode, recognise, and draw meaning from the printed word.

#### Reading accuracy

One of the three elements of reading fluency; it refers to the ability to correctly match the spelling of a word to the sounds it represents.

#### Reading automaticity

One of the three elements of reading fluency; it refers to the rate at which students read, and the ability to read words quickly and effortlessly.

#### Reading comprehension

The ability to understand what is read. It is the product of decoding printed text (word reading) and understanding language accessed through the process of decoding (language comprehension).

#### Reading prosody

One of the three elements of reading fluency; it is the ability to read with expression with the appropriate rhythm, tone, pitch, pauses and stresses for the text.

#### Segmenting

The process of separating and identifying all the individual sounds within a word.

#### Sight word

A written word that is recognised without conscious decoding using learned sound-spelling correspondences. A word becomes a sight word through repeated decoding in a process called orthographic mapping.

#### Sight word vocabulary

A bank of words that are able to be read automatically without decoding.

#### Syntax

The rule system that governs sentence formation, including how phrases and clauses are combined to form sentences.

#### Synthetic phonics

An explicit method of instruction using a part-towhole approach where children are taught to convert graphemes (letters) into phonemes (sounds).

#### Systematic instruction

Instruction that has a clearly planned sequence, with new content introduced methodically and cumulatively, and that is based on an analysis of the complexity of the knowledge and skills to be learned to ensure student understanding.

## Systematic synthetic phonics

An explicit, systematic method of reading instruction that teaches children to convert graphemes into phonemes using a part-towhole approach. Children are explicitly taught to synthesise or blend the individual sounds together to read a word and segment a word into its individual phonemes to spell it.

#### Text coherence

The extent to which a text provides information to help the reader relate information across various parts of the text.

#### Text cohesion

The linking between phrases and sentences that holds a text together.

#### Text structure

The internal organisation of ideas and/or the overarching framework, made cohesive and coherent by connecting parts of a text or parts and the whole text.

#### Word reading

The ability to translate printed text into pronounceable words.

#### Written language

Written language consists of receptive (reading) and expressive (writing) components, and is typically more formal than spoken language including more grammatically, semantically, and conceptually denser.

## References

Aaron PG, Joshi RM, Gooden R and Bentum KE (2008) 'Diagnosis and treatment of reading disabilities based on the component model of reading: An alternative to the discrepancy model of LD', *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 41(1):67–84.

Adams MJ (1990) *Beginning to read: Thinking and learning about print*, MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Adlof S (2019) 'Prologue to the forum: Vocabulary across the school grades', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 50(4):461–465.

Adlof SM and Hogan TP (2019) 'If we don't look, we won't see: Measuring language development to inform literacy instruction', *Policy Insights from the Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, 6(2):210–217.

Adlof S, Catts H and Little T (2006) 'Should the simple view of reading include a fluency component?', *Reading and Writing*, 19:933–958.

Adlof SM, Perfetti CA and Catts HW (2011) 'Developmental changes in reading comprehension: Implications for assessment and instruction', in Samuels SM and Fastrup AE (eds) *What research has to say about reading instruction (4th edn)*, International Reading Association: Delaware.

Ahmed Y, Wagner RK and Lopez D (2014) 'Developmental relations between reading and writing at the word, sentence, and text levels: A latent change score analysis', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 106:419–434.

Alloway T, Wootan S and Deane P (2014) 'Investigating working memory and sustained attention in dyslexic adults', *International Journal of Educational Research*, 67:11–17.

Alloway TP, Gathercole SE, Willis C and Adams AM (2005) 'Working memory and special educational needs', *Education and Child Psychology*, 22:56–67.

Álvarez-Cañizo M, Suárez-Coalla P and Cuetos F (2015) 'The role of reading fluency in children's text comprehension', *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6:1810.

Amendum SJ, Bratsch-Hines M and Vernon-Feagans L (2018) 'Investigating the efficacy of a web-based early reading and professional development intervention for young English learners', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 53(2):155–174.

Andrews R, Torgerson C, Beverton S, Freeman A, Locke T, Low G, Robinson A and Zhu D (2006) 'The effect of grammar teaching on writing', *British Education Research Journal*, 32(1):39–55.

Anthony JL and Francis DJ (2005) 'Development of phonological awareness', *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14(5): 255–259.

Anthony JL, Williams JM, McDonald R and Francis DJ (2007) 'Phonological processing and emergent literacy in younger and older preschool children', *Annals of Dyslexia*, 57(2):113–137.

Apel K, Brimo D, Diehm E and Apel L (2013) 'Morphological awareness intervention with kindergartners and first- and second-grade students from low socioeconomic status homes: A feasibility study', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 44(2):161–173.

Archer AL and Hughes CA (2011) *Explicit Instruction: Effective and Efficient Teaching*, Guilford Press, New York.

Arnold DH, Lonigan C, Whitehurst GJ and Epstein JN (1994) 'Accelerating language development through picture book reading: Replication and extension to a videotape training format', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86: 235–243. Arrow AW, Chapman J and Greaney KT (2015) 'Meeting the needs of beginning readers through differentiated instruction', in Tunmer WE and Chapman JW (eds) *Excellence and equity in literacy education: The case of New Zealand*, Palgrave Macmillan, New Zealand.

Australian Education Research Organisation (2021) Evidencebased teaching strategies – how often are Australian teachers using them? Australian Education Research Organisation, accessed 12 July 2022.

Bangert-Drowns RL, Hurley MM and Wilkinson B (2004) 'The Effects of School-Based Writing-to-Learn Interventions on Academic Achievement: A Meta-Analysis', *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1):29–58.

Barker R, Sevcik R, Morris R and Romski M (2013) 'A model of phonological processing, language, and reading for students with mild intellectual disability', *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 118(5):365–380.

Barton-Hulsey A, Sevcik RA and Romski MA (2017) 'Narrative language and reading comprehension in students with mild intellectual disabilities', *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 122:392–408.

Beck I, McKeown M and Sandora C (2021) *Robust Comprehension Instruction with Questioning the Author: 15 Years Smarter, Guilford Press*, New York, United States.

Beck IL and McKeown MG (2006) *Improving Comprehension* with Questioning the Author: A Fresh and Expanded View of a Powerful Approach, Scholastic, New York, United States.

Beck IL and McKeown MG (2007) 'Increasing Young Low-Income Children's Oral Vocabulary Repertoires through Rich and Focused Instruction', *The Elementary School Journal*, 107:251–271.

Beck IL, McKeown MG and Kucan L (2013) *Bringing Words to Life: Robust Vocabulary Instruction*, 2nd edn, Guilford Publications, New York, United States.

Berninger VW and Abbott RD (2010) 'Listening comprehension, oral expression, reading comprehension, and written expression: Related yet unique language systems in grades 1, 3, 5, and 7', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102:635–651.

Berninger VW, Abbott RD, Nagy W and Carlisle JF (2010) 'Growth in phonological, orthographic, and morphological awareness in grades 1 to 6', *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research*, 39(2):141–163.

Bialystok E and Luk G (2007) 'The university of symbolic representation for reading in Asian and alphabetic languages', *Bilingualism: Language and Cognition*, 10(2):12–129.

Biemiller A and Boote C (2006) 'An effective method for building meaning vocabulary in primary grades', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98:44–62.

Binks-Cantrell E, Joshi RM and Washburn EK (2012) 'Validation of an instrument for assessing teacher knowledge of basic language constructs of literacy', *Annals of Dyslexia*, 62(3):153–171.

Bishop D (2014) *Uncommon understanding: Development and disorders of language comprehension in children*, Psychology Press, Hove, United Kingdom.

Bishop D and Adams C (1990) 'A prospective study of the relationship between specific language impairment, phonological disorders and reading retardation', *The Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 31(7):1027–1050.

Bishop DVM and Snowling MJ (2004) 'Developmental Dyslexia and Specific Language Impairment: Same or Different?', *Psychological Bulletin*, 130(6):858–886. Boudreau D (2008) 'Narrative abilities: Advances in research and implications for clinical practice', *Topics in Language Disorders*, 28(2):99–114.

Bowey JA (2005) 'Predicting individual differences in learning to read', in Snowling MJ and Hulme C (eds) *The science of reading: A handbook*, Blackwell, United Kingdom.

Bowyer-Crane C and Snowling MJ (2005) 'Assessing children's inference generation: what do tests of reading comprehension measure?', *The British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75:189–201.

Brady S (2020) 'A 2020 Perspective on Research Findings on Alphabetics (Phoneme Awareness and Phonics): Implications for Instruction', *The Reading League Journal*, 1(3):20–28.

Bridges M (2011) 'Identifying and Addressing Reading Comprehension Within a Response to Intervention Framework', *Perspectives on Language Learning and Education*, 18(1):20–26.

Brindle M, Graham S, Harris KR and Hebert M (2016) 'Third and fourth grade teachers' classroom practices in writing: A national survey', *Reading and Writing*, 29:929–954.

Broc L, Joye N, Dockrell JE and Olive T (2021) 'Capturing the nature of the spelling errors in Developmental language Disorder: A scoping review', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools* 52(4):1127–1140.

Brown-Chidsey R and Bickford R (2016) *Practical Handbook* of *Multi-tiered Systems of Support: Building academic and* behavioural success in schools, Guilford Press: New York.

Brown M, Wang C and McLeod S (2022) 'Reading with 1–2 year olds impacts academic achievement at 8–11 years', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 58:198–207.

Buckingham J and Meeks L (2019) *Short-changed: Preparation to teach reading in initial teacher education*, MultiLit.

Buckingham J, Beaman R and Wheldall K (2014) 'Why poor children are more likely to become poor readers: The early years', *Educational Review*, 66(4):428–446.

Buckingham J, Wheldall K and Beaman-Wheldall R (2013) 'Why poor children are more likely to become poor readers: The school years', *Australian Journal of Education*, 57(3):190–213.

Burchinal M, Howes C, Pianta R, Bryant D, Early D, Clifford R and Barbarin O (2008) 'Predicting Child Outcomes at the End of Kindergarten from the Quality of Pre-Kindergarten Teacher– Child Interactions and Instruction', *Applied Developmental Science*, 12:140–153.

Burgoyne K, Lervag A, Malone S and Hulme C (2019) 'Speech difficulties at school entry are a significant risk factor for later reading difficulties', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 49:40–48.

Bus AG, van IJzendoorn MH and Pellegrini AD (1995) 'Joint book reading makes for success in learning to read: A meta-analysis on intergenerational transmission of literacy', *Review of Educational Research*, 65(1):1–21.

Cain K and Oakhill J (1999) 'Inference making ability and its relation to comprehension failure in young children', *Reading and Writing*, 11:489–503.

Cain K and Oakhill J (2006) 'Profiles of children with specific reading comprehension difficulties', *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(4):683–696.

Cain K, Oakhill J and Bryant P (2004) 'Children's reading comprehension ability: Concurrent prediction by working memory, verbal ability, and component skills', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96(1):31–42.

Cain K, Oakhill JV, Barnes MA and Bryant PE (2001) 'Comprehension skill, inference-making ability, and the relation to knowledge', *Memory and Cognition*, 29:850–859.

Carlisle JF (2003) 'Morphology matters in learning to read: A commentary', *Reading Psychology*, 24(3–4):291–322. Carlisle JF and Katz LA (2006) 'Effects of word and morpheme familiarity on reading of derived words', *Reading and Writing*, 19:669–693.

Carlisle JF, Stone CA and Katz LA (2001) 'The effects of phonological transparency on reading derived words', *Annals of Dyslexia*, 51(1):249–274.

Carroll JM and Breadmore HL (2018) 'Not all phonological awareness deficits are created equal: Evidence from a comparison between children with otitis media and poor readers', *Developmental Science*, 21(3):1–12.

Carroll JM, Snowling MJ, Stevenson J and Hulme C (2003) 'The development of phonological awareness in preschool children', *Developmental Psychology*, 39(5):913–923.

Castles A, Coltheart M, Larsen L, Jones P, Saunders S and McArthur GM (2009) 'Assessing the basic components of reading: A revision of the Castles and Coltheart test with new norms', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 1:67–88.

Castles A, Rastle K and Nation K (2018) 'Ending the reading wars: Reading acquisition from novice to expert', *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 19(1):5–51.

Catts H and Kamhi A (2014) 'Prologue: Reading comprehension is not a single ability', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 48(2):73–76.

Catts HW and Kamhi AG (2017) 'Prologue: Reading comprehension is not a single ability', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 48:73–76.

Catts HW, Adlof S and Weismer SE (2006) 'Language deficits in poor comprehenders: A case for the simple view of reading', *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 49:278–293.

Catts HW, Adlof SM, Hogan TP and Weismer SE (2005) 'Are specific language impairment and dyslexia distinct disorders?', *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 48(6): 1378–1396.

Catts H, Fey M, Tomblin J and Zhang X (2002) 'A longitudinal investigation of reading outcomes in children with language impairments', *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 45(6):1142–1157.

Catts H, McIlraith A, Bridges M and Nielsen D (2017) 'Viewing a phonological deficit within a multifactorial model of dyslexia', *Reading and Writing*, 30(3):613–629.

Catts HW (2018) 'The simple view of reading: Advancements and false impressions', *Remedial and Special Education*, 39(5):317–323.

Catts HW (2021) 'Commentary: The critical role of oral language deficits in reading disorders: reflections on Snowling and Hulme (2021)', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 62(5):654–656.

Catts HW, Fey ME, Zhang X and Tomblin JB (2001) 'Estimating the risk of future reading difficulties in kindergarten children', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 32(1):38–50.

Catts HW, Hogan TP and Adlof SM (2005) 'Developmental changes in reading and reading disabilities', in Catts HW and Kamhi AG (eds) *The connections between language and reading disabilities*, Taylor and Francis, United States.

Catts HW, Nielsen DC, Bridges MS, Liu YS and Bontempo DE (2015) 'Early identification of reading disabilities within an RTI framework', *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 48(3):281–297.

Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation (2017) *Cognitive load theory: Research that teachers really need to understand*, Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation, NSW Government.

Chambrè SJ, Ehri LC and Ness M (2020) 'Phonological decoding enhances orthographic facilitation of vocabulary learning in first graders', *Reading and Writing*, 33:1133–1162.

Chapman JW and Tunmer WE (1995) 'Development of young children's reading self-concepts: An examination of emerging subcomponents and their relationship with reading achievement', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(1):154–167. Chapman JW and Tunmer WE (2003) 'Reading difficulties, reading-related self-perceptions, and strategies for overcoming negative self-beliefs', *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 19(1):5–24.

Chard DJ, Vaughn S and Tyler B-J (2002) 'A synthesis of research on effective interventions for building reading fluency with elementary students with learning disabilities', *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 35(5):386–406.

Cheatham JP and Allor JH (2012) 'The influence of decodability in early reading text on reading achievement: A review of the evidence', *Reading and Writing*, 25:2223–2246.

Clark AG and Dockweiler KA (2019) *Multi-tiered Systems of Support in Secondary Schools: The definitive guide to effective implementation and quality control*, Routledge, New York.

Clark RE, Kirschner PA and Sweller J (2012) 'Putting students on the path to learning: The case for fully guided instruction', *American Educator*, 36:6–11.

Clarke PJ, Snowling MJ, Truelove E and Hulme C (2010) 'Ameliorating children's reading comprehension difficulties: a randomised controlled trial', *Psychological Science*, 21(8): 1106–1116.

Clarke PJ, Truelove E, Hulme C and Snowling MJ (2014) *Developing Reading Comprehension*, Wiley-Blackwell, London, England.

Colenbrander D, Ricketts J and Breadmore HL (2018) 'Early identification of dyslexia: Understanding the issues', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 49(4):817–828.

Coltheart M (2006) 'Dual route and connectionist models of reading: An overview', *London Review of Education*, 4(1):5–17.

Connor CM, Dombek J, Crowe EC, Spencer M, Tighe EL, Coffinger S, Zargar E, Wood T and Petscher Y (2017) 'Acquiring science and social studies knowledge in kindergarten through fourth grade: Conceptualization, design, implementation, and efficacy testing of content-area literacy instruction (CALI)', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(3):301–320.

Cremin T (2007) 'Revisiting reading for pleasure: Delight, desire and diversity', in Goouch K and Lambirth A (eds) *Understanding phonics and the teaching of reading: A critical perspective*, McGraw Hill, Berkshire, United Kingdom.

Cremin T, Mottram M, Collins FM, Powell S and Safford K (2014) *Building communities of engaged readers: Reading for pleasure*, Routledge, London, England.

Cromley J and Azevedo R (2007) 'Testing and refining the direct and inferential mediation model of reading comprehension', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99:311–325.

Cunningham AE (2005) 'Vocabulary growth through independent reading and reading aloud to children', in Hiebert EH and Kamil ML (eds) *Teaching and learning vocabulary: Bringing to research to practice*, Erlbaum: New Jersey.

Dale PS, Crain-Thoreson C, Notari-Syverson A and Cole K (1996) 'Parent-child book reading as an intervention technique for young children with language delays', *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 16(2):213–235.

Dawes E, Leitao S, Claessen M and Nayton M (2015) 'A profile of working memory ability in poor readers', *Australian Psychologist*, 50(5):362–371.

de Almeida Sargiani R, Ehri LC and Maluf M (2021) 'Teaching beginners to decode consonant-vowel syllables using graphemephoneme subunits facilitates reading and spelling as compared with teaching whole-syllable decoding', *Reading Research Quarterly*, doi:10.1002/rrq.432.

de Bruin K (2019) 'The impact of inclusive education reforms on students with disability: An international comparison', *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 23(7–8):811–826.

de Graff S, Bosman AMT, Hasselman F and Verhoeven L (2009) 'Benefits of systematic phonics instruction', *Journal of Research in Reading*, 13(4):318–333. Deacon SH and Kirby JR (2004) 'Morphological awareness: Just "more phonological"? The roles of morphological and phonological awareness in reading development', *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 25(2):223–238.

Dehaene S (2019) *Reading in the Brain*, Penguin Group, New York, United States.

Dehaene S, Pegado F, Braga LW, Ventura P, Nunes Filho G, Jobert A, Dehaene-Lambertz G, Kolinsky R, Morais J and Cohen L (2010) 'How learning to read changes the cortical networks for vision and language', *Science*, 330:1359–1364.

Dehaene-Lambertz G, Monzalvo K and Dehaene S (2018) 'The emergency of the visual word form: Longitudinal evolution of category-specific ventral areas during reading acquisition', *PLoS Biology*, 16(3):e2004103.

Denton CA (2008) *Classroom reading instruction that supports struggling readers: Key components for effective teaching*, RTI Action Network, accessed 12 July 2022.

Department of Education and Training (2022) Australian Early Development Census National Report 2021: A Snapshot of Early Childhood Development in Australia, Department of Education and Training, Australian Government.

Department of Education (2021) *Inclusive education policy*, Department of Education, Queensland Government.

Dickinson D and Porche M (2011) 'Relation between language experiences in preschool classrooms and children's kindergarten and fourth-grade language and reading abilities', *Child Development*, 82:870–886.

Dixon M, Stuart M and Masterson J (2002) 'The relationship between phonological awareness and the development of orthographic representations', *Reading and Writing*, 15:295–316.

Duff (2019) 'The effect of vocabulary intervention on text comprehension: Who benefits?', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 50:562–578.

Duke NK and Pearson PD (2002) 'Effective practices for developing reading comprehension', in Farstrup AE and Samuels SJ (eds) *What research has to say about reading instruction (3rd edn)*, Routledge, London.

Duncan GJ, Dowsett CJ, Claessens A, Magnuson K, Huston AC, Klebanov P, Pagani S, Feinstein L, Engel M, Brooks-Gunn J, Sexton H, Duckwroth K and Japel C (2007) 'School readiness and later achievement', *Developmental Psychology*, 43(6):1428–1446.

Dymock S and Nicholson T (2010) "High 5!" Strategies to enhance comprehension of expository text', *The Reading Teacher*, 64(3):166–178.

Eberhardt NC (2019) 'Syntax: Somewhere between words and text', *Perspectives on Language and Literacy*, 45(2):39–45.

Ehri LC (2014) 'Orthographic mapping in the acquisition of sight word reading, spelling memory, and vocabulary learning', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 18(1):5–21.

Ehri LC (2015) 'How children learn to read words', in Pollatsek A and Treiman R (eds) *The Oxford handbook of reading*, Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Ehri LC (2020) 'The science of learning to read words: A case for systematic phonics instruction', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 55(S1):S45–S60.

Ehri LC, Nunes S, Willows DM, Schuster B, Yaghoub-Zadeh Z and Shanahan T (2001) 'Phonemic awareness instruction helps children learn to read: Evidence from the National Reading Panel's meta-analysis', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 36(3):250–287.

Elbro C and Arnbak E (1996) 'The role of morpheme recognition and morphological awareness in dyslexia', *Annals of Dyslexia*, 46:209–240.

Elhassan Z, Crewther SG, Bavin EL and Crewther DP (2015) 'Preliminary validation of FastaReada as a measure of reading fluency', *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6:1634. Elleman AE, Lindo EJ, Morphy P and Compton DL (2009) 'The impact of vocabulary instruction on passage level comprehension of school-age children: A meta-analysis', *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 2(1):1–44.

Farver J, Xu Y, Lonigan CJ and Eppe S (2013) 'The home literacy environment and Latino head start children's emergent literacy skills', *Developmental Psychology*, 49(4):775–791.

Fernald A, Perfors A and Marchman VA (2006) 'Picking up speed in understanding: Speech processing efficiency and vocabulary growth across the second year', *Developmental Psychology*, 42:98–116.

Ferrer E, Shaywitz B, Holahan J, Marchione K, Michaels R and Shaywitz S (2015) 'Achievement Gap in Reading Is Present as Early as First Grade and Persists through Adolescence', *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 167(5):1121–1125.

Fisher EL, Barton-Hulsey A, Walters C, Sevcik RA and Morris R (2019) 'Executive functioning and narrative language in children with dyslexia,', *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 28:1127-1138.

Fitzgerald J and Shanahan T (2000) 'Reading and writing relations and their development', *Educational Psychologist*, 35(1):39–50.

Francey G and Cain K (2015) 'Effect of imagery training on children's comprehension of pronouns', *The Journal of Educational Research*, 108(1):1–9.

Frost R (1998) 'Toward a strong phonological theory of visual word recognition: True issues and false trails', *Psychological Bulletin*, 123(1):71–99.

Fuchs D, Compton DL, Fuchs LS, Bryant J and Davis GN (2008) 'Making "secondary intervention" work in a three-tier responsiveness-to-intervention model: Findings from the firstgrade longitudinal reading study of the National Research Centre on Learning Disabilities', *Reading and Writing*, 21(4):413–436.

Fuchs LS, Fuchs D, Hosp MK and Jenkins JR (2001) 'Oral reading fluency as an indicator of reading competence: a theoretical, empirical, and historical analysis', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 5:239–256.

Galuschka K, Ise E, Krick K and Schulte-Korne G (2014) 'Effectiveness of treatment approaches for children and adolescents with reading disabilities: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials', *PLOS ONE*, 9(2):e89900

Gardner-Neblett N and Iruka IU (2015) 'Oral narrative skills: Explaining the language-emergent literacy link by race/ethnicity and SES', *Developmental Psychology*, 51:889–904.

Gathercole S, Alloway T, Willis C and Adams A (2006) 'Working memory in children with reading disabilities', *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 93(3):265–281.

Gathercole SE and Alloway TP (2008) *Working Memory and Learning: A Practical Guide for Teachers*, Sage, London, United Kingdom.

Geary DC (2008) 'An evolutionarily informed education science', *Educational Psychologist*, 43(4):179–195.

Gersten R, Fuchs LS, Williams JP and Baker S (2001) 'Teaching reading comprehension strategies to students with learning disabilities: A review of research', *Review of Educational Research*, 71:279–320.

Gillon G, McNeill B, Scott A, Denston A, Wilson L, Carson K and Macfarlane AH (2019) 'A better start to literacy learning: findings from a teacher-implemented intervention in children's first year at school', *Reading and Writing*, 32:1989–2012.

Gillon G, McNeill B, Scott A, Arrow A, Gath M and Macfarlane A (2022) 'A better start literacy approach: effectiveness of Tier 1 and Tier 2 support within a response to teaching framework', *Reading and Writing*, doi.org/10.1007/s11145-022-10303-4.

Goldfeld S, Snow P, Eadie P, Munro J, Gold L, Orsini F, Connell J, Stark H, Watts A and Shingles B (2021) 'Teacher knowledge of oral language and literacy constructs: Results of a randomized controlled trial evaluating the effectiveness of a professional learning intervention', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 25(1):1–30.

Goswami U (2001) 'Early phonological development and the acquisition of literacy', in Dickinson, DK and Neuman SB (eds) *Handbook of early literacy research*, Guilford Press, New York, NY.

Gough PB and Tunmer WE (1986) 'Decoding, reading and reading ability', *Remedial and Special Education*, 7(1):6–10.

Graesser AC, McNamara DS and Louwerse MM (2003) 'What do readers need to learn in order to process coherence relations in narrative and expository text', in Sweet AP and Snow C (eds) *Rethinking reading comprehension*, Guildford Publications: New York.

Grainger J (2008) 'Cracking the orthographic code: An introduction', *Language and Cognitive Processes*, 23: 1–35.

Graham L (2020) *Inclusive education for the 21st century: Theory, policy and practice,* A&U Academic.

Graham S (2019) 'Changing how writing is taught', *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1):277–303.

Graham S and Hebert M (2011) 'Writing to read: A meta-analysis of the impact of writing and writing instruction on reading', *Harvard Educational Review*, 81(4):710–744.

Graham S, Kiuhara SA and MacKay M (2020) 'The effects of writing on learning in science, social studies, and mathematics: a meta-analysis', *Review of Educational Research*, 90(2):179–226.

Graham S, Liu X, Bartlett B, Ng C, Harris KR, Aitken A, Barkel A, Kavanaugh C and Talukdar J (2018) 'Reading for writing: a meta-analysis of the impact of reading interventions on writing', *Review of Educational Research*, 88(2):243–284.

Graham S and Perin D (2007) 'A meta-analysis of writing instruction for adolescent students', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(3):445–476.

Graham S and Santangelo T (2014) 'Does spelling instruction make students better spellers, readers, and writers? A metaanalytic review', *Reading and Writing*, 27(9):1703–1743.

Graham LJ, Tancredi H and Gillett-Swan J (2022) 'What makes an excellent teacher? Insights from junior high school students with a history of disruptive behaviour', *Frontiers in Education*, 7:883443.

Gray S, Fox AB, Green S, Alt M, Hogan TP, Petscher Y and Cowan N (2019) 'Working memory profiles of children with dyslexia, developmental language disorder, or both', *Journal* of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 62(6):1839–1858.

Griffin TM, Hemphill L, Camp L and Wolf DP (2004) 'Oral discourse in the preschool years and later literacy skills', *First Language*, 24:123–147.

Halliday M and Hasan R (2014) *Cohesion in English*, Routledge, London, England.

Harris J, Golinkoff R and Hirsh-Pasek K (2011) 'Lessons from the crib for the classroom: How children really learn vocabulary', in Neuman SB and Dickinson DK (eds), *Handbook of early literacy research*, Guilford Press, New York.

Hart B and Risley TR (1995) *Meaningful differences in the everyday experience of young American children*, Paul H. Brookes, Baltimore, MD.

Hebert M, Bohaty JJ, Nelson JR and Brown J (2016) 'The effects of text structure instruction on expository reading comprehension: A meta-analysis', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 108(5): 609–629.

Heggie L and Wade-Woolley L (2017) 'Reading longer words: Insights into multisyllabic word reading', *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 2(1):86–94. Hempenstall K (2013) 'What is the place for national assessment in the prevention and resolution of reading difficulties?', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 18(2):105–121.

Hempenstall K (2016) *Read about it: Scientific evidence for effective teaching of reading*, The Centre for Independent Studies.

Hiebert EH and Kami ML (2005) *Teaching and Learning Vocabulary: Bringing Research to Practice*, Routledge, New York, United States.

Hiebert EH, Martin LA and Menon S (2005) 'Are there alternatives in reading textbooks? An examination of three beginning reading programs', *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 21(1):7–32.

Hipfner-Boucher K, Milburn T, Weitzman E, Greenberg J, Pelletier J and Girolametto L (2014) 'Relationships between preschoolers' oral language and phonological awareness', *First Language*, 34:178–197.

Hirsch ED (2016) *Why knowledge matters: Rescuing our children from failed educational theories*, Harvard Education Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Hjetland HN, Lervåg A, Lyster SA, Hagtvet BE, Hulme C and Melby-Lervåg M (2019) 'Pathways to reading comprehension: A longitudinal study from 4 to 9 years of age', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 111(5):751–763.

Ho S, Chow B, Wong S, Waye M and Bishop DVM (2012) 'The genetic and environmental foundation of the simple view of reading in Chinese', *PLOS ONE*, 7(10):e47872.

Hoff E (2006) 'How social contexts support and shape language development', *Developmental Review*, 26:55–88.

Hogan T, Bridges M, Justice L and Cain K (2011) 'Increasing higher level language skills to improve reading comprehension', *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 44(3):1–19.

Hogan TP, Cain K and Bridges MS (2012) 'Young children's oral language abilities and later reading comprehension', in Shanahan T, Lonigan C (eds) *Literacy in preschool and kindergarten children: The National Early Literacy Panel and beyond*, Paul H. Brookes, Baltimore, MD.

Hogan TP, Adlof SM and Alonzo CN (2014) 'On the importance of listening comprehension', *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 16(3):199–207.

Hoover WA and Gough PB (1990) 'The simple view of reading', *Reading and Writing*, 2(2):127–160.

Hoover WA and Tunmer WE (2018) 'The Simple View of Reading: Three assessments of its adequacy', *Remedial and Special Education*, 39(5):304–312.

Hoover WA and Tunmer WE (2020) *The cognitive foundations of reading and its acquisition: A framework with applications connecting teaching and learning*, Springer Nature Switzerland, Cham, Switzerland.

Hoover WA and Tunmer WE (2021) 'The primacy of science in communicating advances in the science of reading', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 0(0):1–10.

Hruby GG and Goswami U (2011) 'Review of research: Neuroscience and reading – a review for reading education researchers', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 46(2):156–172.

Hudson RF, Lane HB and Pullen PC (2005) 'Reading fluency assessment and instruction: What, why, and how?', *The Reading Teacher*, 58(8):702–714.

Hughes CA and Dexter DD (2011) 'Response to intervention: A research-based summary', *Theory into Practice*, 50:4–11.

Hulme C and Snowling MJ (2011) 'Children's reading comprehension difficulties: Nature, causes, and treatments', *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(3):139–142.

Hulme C and Snowling MJ (2013) 'The interface between spoken and written language developmental disorders', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of Biological Sciences*, 369:20120395. Hulme C, Bowyer-Crane C, Carroll J, Duff FJ and Snowling MJ (2012) 'The causal role of phoneme awareness and letter-sound knowledge in learning to read: Combining intervention studies with mediation analyses', *Psychological Science*, 23:572–577.

Hurtado N, Marchman VA and Fernald A (2007) 'Spoken word recognition by Latino children learning Spanish as their first language', *Journal of Child Language*, 34:227–249.

Hurtado N, Marchman VA and Fernald A (2008) 'Does input influence uptake? Links between maternal talk, processing speed and vocabulary size in Spanish-learning children', *Developmental Science*, 11(6):31–39.

Huttenlocher J, Waterfall H, Vasilyeva M, Vevea J and Hedges LV (2010) 'Sources of variability in children's language growth', *Cognitive psychology*, 61(4):343–365.

lvey G (2014) 'The social side of engaged reading for young adolescents', *The Reading Teacher*, 68(3):165–171.

Jalongo MR and Sobolak MJ (2011) 'Supporting Young Children's Vocabulary Growth: The Challenges, the Benefits, and Evidence-Based Strategies', *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 38:421–429.

Jenkins JR, Fuchs LS, Van Den Broek P, Espin C and Deno SL (2003) 'Sources of individual differences in reading comprehension and reading fluency', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(4): 719–729.

Johnston RS and Watson JE (2005) *The effects of synthetic phonics teaching on reading and spelling attainment: A seven-year longitudinal study*, Scottish Executive Education Department, accessed 18 March 2022.

Johnston RS, McGeown S and Watson JE (2012) 'Long-term effects of synthetic versus analytic phonics teaching on the reading and spelling ability of 10-year-old boys and girls', *Reading and Writing*, 25:1365–1384.

Justice L (2006) 'Evidence-based practice, response to intervention, and the prevention of reading difficulties', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 37(4):284–297.

Justice L and Ezell H (2002) 'Use of storybook reading to increase print awareness in at-risk children', *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 11(1):17–29.

Justice LM and Kaderavek J (2002) 'Using Shared Storybook Reading to Promote Emergent Literacy', *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 34(4):8–13.

Justice LM and Kaderavek JN (2004) 'Embedded-explicit emergent literacy intervention I: Background and description of approach', *Language Speech and Hearing Services in Schools*, 35:201–211.

Justice L, Logan J, Işıtan S and Saçkes M (2016) 'The homeliteracy environment of young children with disabilities', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 37:131–139.

Justice L, Mashburn A and Petscher Y (2013) 'Very early language skills of fifth-grade poor comprehenders', *Journal of Research in Reading*, 36:172–185.

Justice LM and Pullen PC (2003) 'Promising Interventions for Promoting Emergent Literacy Skills: Three Evidence-Based Approaches', *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 23(3):99–113.

Justice LM, Skibbe L, Canning A and Lankford C (2005) 'Pre-schoolers, print and storybooks: An observational study using eye movement analysis', *Journal of Research in Reading*, 28(3):229–243.

Katz L and Frost SJ (2001) 'Phonology constrains the internal orthographic representation', *Reading and Writing*, 14:297–332.

Katzir T, Lesaux NK and Kim YS (2009) 'The role of reading selfconcept and home literacy practices in fourth grade reading comprehension', *Reading and Writing*, 22(3):261–276. Kearns DM, Stacey LM, Compton DL, Gilbert JK, Goodwin AP, Cho E, Lindstrom ER and Collins AA (2016) 'Modeling polymorphemic word recognition exploring differences among children with early-emerging and late-emerging word reading difficulty', *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(4):368–394.

Kieras D (1978) 'Beyond pictures and words: Alternative information-processing models for imagery effects in verbal memory', *Psychological Bulletin*, 85:532–554.

Kilpatrick DA (2015) *Essentials of Assessing, Preventing, and Overcoming Reading Difficulties*, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, New Jersey.

Kim JS, Burkhauser MA, Mesite LM, Asher CA, Relyea JE, Fitzgerald J and Elmore J (2021) 'Improving reading comprehension, science domain knowledge, and reading engagement through a first-grade content literacy intervention', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 113(1):3–26.

Kim YSG (2010) 'Componential skills in early spelling development in Korean', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 14:137–158.

Kim YSG, Apel K and Al Otaiba S (2013) 'The relation of linguistic awareness and vocabulary to word reading and spelling for first-grade students participating in response to instruction', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 44:1–11.

Kim YSG and Phillips B (2014) 'Cognitive correlates of listening comprehension', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 49: 269–281.

Kim YSG and Schatschneider C (2017) 'Expanding the developmental models of writing: a direct and indirect effects model of developmental writing (DIEW)', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(1):35–50.

Kim Y-S and Wagner RK (2015) 'Text (Oral) reading fluency as a construct in reading development: An investigation of its mediating role for children from Grades 1 to 4', *Scientific Studies* of *Reading*, 19:224–242.

Kim Y-S, Wagner RK and Foster E (2011) 'Relations among oral reading fluency, silent reading fluency, and reading comprehension: A latent variable study of first-grade readers', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 15:338–362

Kintsch W (2009) 'Learning and constructivism', in Tobias S and Duffy TM (eds) *Constructivist instruction: Success of failure?* Routledge, New York.

Kintsch W and Kinstch E (2005) 'Comprehension', in Paris SG and Stahl SA (eds) *Children's Reading Comprehension and Assessment*, Ablex, Mahwah.

Kirschner PA, Sweller J and Clark RE (2006) 'Why minimal guidance during instruction does not work: An analysis of the failure of constructivist, discovery, problem-based, experiential, and inquiry-based teaching', *Educational Psychologist*, 41(2):75–86.

Konza D (2014) 'Teaching reading: Why the "Fab Five" should be the "Big Six", *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 39(12):153–169.

Kuhn M and Stahl S (2003) 'Fluency: A review of developmental and remedial practices', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95:3–22.

LaBerge D and Samuels SJ (1974) 'Toward a theory of automatic information processing in reading', *Cognitive Psychology*, 6(2): 293–323.

Landi N and Ryherd K (2017) 'Understanding specific reading comprehension deficit: A review', *Language and linguistics compass*, 11(2), e12234.

Langer JA and Flihan S (2000) 'Writing and reading relationships: Constructive tasks', in Indrisano R and Squire JR (eds), *Writing and research/theory/practice*, International Reading Association, Newark, DE.

LARRC (Language and Reading Research Consortium) (2015) 'Learning to read: Should we keep things simple?', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 50(2):151–169. LARRC (Language and Reading Research Consortium) and Chiu YD (2018) 'The simple view of reading across development: Prediction of Grade 3 reading comprehension from prekindergarten skills', *Remedial and Special Education*, 39(5):289–303.

LARRC (Language and Reading Research Consortium) and Logan J (2017) 'Pressure points in reading comprehension: A quantile multiple regression analysis', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(4):451–464.

Law J, Charlton J, McKean C, Beyer F, Fernandez-Garcia C, Mashayekhi A and Rush R (2018) *Parent-child reading to improve language development and school readiness: A systematic review and meta-analysis*, Newcastle University and Queen Margaret University, accessed 23 July 2022.

Leone P, Krezmien M, Mason-Williams L and Meisel S (2005) 'Organizing and delivering empirically based literacy instruction to incarcerated youth', *Exceptionality*, 13:89–102.

Lervag A, Hulme C and Melby-Lervag M (2018) 'Unpicking the developmental relationship between oral language skills and reading comprehension: It's simple, but complex', *Child Development*, 89(5):1821–1838.

Levin B (2013) 'To know is not enough: research knowledge and its use', *Review of Education*, 1(1): 2–31.

Logan J (2017) 'Pressure points in reading comprehension: A quantile multiple regression analysis', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(4):451–464.

Lonigan CJ and Shanahan T (2009) *Developing Early Literacy: Report of the National Early Literacy Panel. Executive Summary. A Scientific Synthesis of Early Literacy Development and Implications for Intervention*, National Institute for Literacy, accessed 18 March 2022.

Lonigan CJ, Burgess SR and Schatschneider C (2018) 'Examining the simple view of reading with elementary school children: Still simple after all these years', *Remedial and Special Education*, 39(5):260–273.

Lovett MW, Frijters JC, Steinbach KA, Sevcik RA and Morris RD (2021) 'Effective intervention for adolescents with reading disabilities: combining reading and motivational remediation to improve outcomes', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 113(4):656–689.

Machin S, McNally S and Viarengo M (2018) 'Changing how literacy is taught: Evidence on synthetic phonics', *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 10(2):217–241.

Mann V and Singson M (2003) 'Linking morphological knowledge to English decoding ability: Large effects of little suffixes', in Assink EMH and Sandra D (eds) *Reading complex words: Cross-language studies*, Springer, Boston, Massachusetts.

McArthur GM, Eve PM, Jones K, Banales E, Kohnen S, Anandakumar T, Larsen L, Marinus E, Wang H-C and Castles A (2012) 'Phonics training for English-speaking poor readers', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 12:1–104.

McGeown SP, Duncan LG, Griffiths YM and Stothard SE (2015) 'Exploring the relationship between adolescent's reading skills, reading motivation and reading habits', *Reading and Writing*, 28(4):545–569.

McKean C, Law J, Laing K, Cockerill M, Allon-Smith J, McCartney E and Forbes J (2017) 'A qualitative case study in the social capital of co-professional collaborative co-practice for children with speech, language and communication needs', *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, 52(4):514–527.

McKenna M, Castillo J, Dedrick R, Cheng K and Goldstein H (2021) 'Speech-language pathologist involvement in multi-tiered system of supports questionnaire: advances in interprofessional practice', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 52(2):597–611. McKeown MG (2019) 'Effective vocabulary instruction fosters knowing words, using words, and understanding how words work', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 50:466–476.

McLeod S, Crowe K, Masso S, Baker E, McCormack J, Wren Y, Roulstone S and Howland C (2017) 'Profile of Australian preschool children with speech sound disorders at risk for literacy difficulties', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 22(1):15–33.

McNamara DS and Magliano J (2009) 'Toward a comprehensive model of comprehension', in Ross BH (ed) *The psychology of learning and motivation*, Elsevier Academic Press, Massachusetts.

Meeks L, Stephenson J, Kemp C and Madelaine A (2017) 'How well prepared are pre-service teachers to teach early reading? A systematic review of the literature', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 21(2):69–98.

Melby-Lervåg M, Lyster, SH and Hulme C (2012) 'Phonological skills and their role in learning to read: A meta-analysis review', *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(2):322–352.

Milankov V, Golubović S, Krstić T and Golubović S (2021) 'Phonological Awareness as the Foundation of Reading Acquisition in Students Reading in Transparent Orthography', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18:5440.

Miles KP, McFadden KE and Ehri LC (2019) 'Associations between language and literacy skills and sight word learning for native and nonnative English-speaking kindergarteners', *Reading and Writing*, 32:1681–1704.

Moats L (2010) *Speech to print: Language essentials for teachers*, 3rd edn, Paul H Brookes, Baltimore, United States.

Morgan PL and Fuchs D (2007) 'Is there a bidirectional relationship between children's reading skills and reading motivation?', *Exceptional Children*, 73(2):165–183.

Morrison FJ, Ponitz CC and McClelland MM (2010) 'Self-regulation and academic achievement in the transition to school', in Calkins SD and Bell M (eds) *Child development at the intersection of emotion and cognition*, American Psychological Association, Washington DC.

Murphy KA, Justice LM, O'Connell AA, Pentimonti JM and Kaderavek JN (2016) 'Understanding risk for reading difficulties in children with language impairment', *Journal of Speech*, *Language, and Hearing Research*, 59(6): 1436–1447.

Muter V, Hulme C, Snowling MJ and Stevenson J (2004) 'Phonemes, rimes, vocabulary, and grammatical skills as foundations of early reading development: Evidence from a longitudinal study', *Developmental Psychology*, 40:665–681.

Nagy W, Anderson RC, Schommer M, Scott JA and Stallman AC (1989) 'Morphological families in the internal lexicon', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 24(3):262–282.

Nation K (2019) 'Children's reading difficulties, language, and reflections on the simple view of reading', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 24(1):47–73.

Nation K and Snowling MJ (2004) 'Beyond phonological skills: broader language skills contribute to the development of reading', *Journal of Research in Reading*, 27(4):342–356.

National Early Literacy Panel (2008) *Developing Early Literacy: Report of the National Early Literacy Panel: A scientific synthesis of early literacy development and implications for intervention*, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, accessed 9 March 2022.

National Reading Panel (2000) *Report of the National Reading Panel: Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction: Reports of the subgroups*, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, accessed 17 March 2022. National Research Council (1998) *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*, The National Academies Press, Washington DC, United States.

Neuman SB and Dwyer J (2009) 'Missing in Action: Vocabulary Instruction in Pre-K', *The Reading Teacher*, 62:384–392.

Newbury J, Justice LM, Jiang HH and Schmitt MB (2020) 'Cognitive, noncognitive, and home environment correlates of reading difficulties in primary-grade students with language impairment', *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 63:1933–1946.

Newman L, Sivaratnam C and Komiti A (2015) 'Attachment and early brain development: Neuroprotective interventions in infant–caregiver therapy', *Translational Developmental Psychiatry*, 3:28647.

NICHD (National Institute of Child Health and Human Development) Early Child Care Research Network (2005) 'Pathways to reading: the role of oral language in the transition to reading', *Developmental Psychology*, 41(2):428–442.

Nippold M (2007) Later language development: School-age children, adolescents, and young adults, 4th edn, Pro-Ed, Austin, Texas, United States.

Nippold M (2017) 'Reading Comprehension Deficits in Adolescents: Addressing Underlying Language Abilities', *Language, speech, and hearing services in schools*, 48:1–7.

Norton ES and Wolf M (2012) 'Rapid automatized naming (RAN) and reading fluency: Implications for understanding and treatment of reading disabilities', *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63:427–452.

Norwich (2013) Addressing tensions and dilemmas in inclusive education: Living with uncertainty, Routledge, United Kingdom.

Nunes T, Bryant P and Bindman M (2006) 'The effects of learning to spell on children's awareness of morphology', *Reading and Writing*, 19(7):767–787.

Oakhill J and Cain K (2007) 'Issues of causality in children's reading comprehension', in McNamara DS (ed) *Reading comprehension strategies: Theories, interventions, and technologies*, Erlbaum: New York.

Oakhill J, Cain K and Elbro C (2014) *Understanding and teaching reading comprehension: A handbook*, Routledge, London.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (2019) *Programme for international student assessment* (PISA) results from PISA 2018, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, accessed 12 July 2022.

Ozonoff S (1997) 'Components of executive function in autism and other disorders' In Russell J (Ed.) *Autism as an executive disorder* (pp. 179–211) Oxford University Press.

Padeliadu S and Giazitzidou S (2018) 'A synthesis of research on reading fluency development: Study of eight meta-analyses', *European Journal of Special Education Research*, 3(4):223–240.

Paris SG (2005) 'Reinterpreting the development of reading skills', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 40(2):184–202.

Pelatti CY, Piasta SB, Justice LM and O'Connell A (2014) 'Language- and literacy-learning opportunities in early childhood classrooms: Children's typical experiences and within-classroom variability', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 29(4):445–456.

Peng P, Barnes M, Wang C, Wang W, Li S, Swanson, HL, Dardick W and Tao S (2018) 'A meta-analysis on the relation between reading and working memory', *Psychological Bulletin*,144:48–76.

Penno JF, Wilkinson IAG and Moore DW (2002) 'Vocabulary acquisition from teacher explanation and repeated listening to stories: Do they overcome the Matthew effect?', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 94(1):23–33.

Pentimonti JM and Justice LM (2010) 'Teachers' use of scaffolding strategies during read alouds in the preschool classroom', *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 27(4):241–248.

Perfetti C (2007) 'Reading ability: Lexical quality to comprehension', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 11(4):357–383.

Perry B, Pollard R, Blakley T, Baker W and Vigilante D (1995) 'Childhood trauma, the neurobiology of adaptation, and 'usedependent' development of the brain: How 'states' become 'traits', *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 16:271–91.

Peterson C, Jesso B and McCabe A (1999) 'Encouraging narratives in preschoolers: An intervention study', *Journal of Child Language*, 26(1):49–67.

Pfeiffer S, Davis R, Kellog E, Hern C, McLaughlin TF and Curry G (2001) 'The effect of the Davis Learning Strategies on First Grade word recognition and subsequent special education referrals', *Reading Improvement*, 38(2):1–19.

Piasta SB, Connor CM, Fishman BJ and Morrison FJ (2009) 'Teachers' knowledge of literacy concepts, classroom practices, and student reading growth', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 13(3):224–248.

Powell R (2018) 'Unique contributors to the curriculum: From research to practice for speech-language pathologists in schools', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 49:140–147.

Pratt AS, Justice LM, Perez A and Duran LK (2015) 'Impacts of parent-implemented early-literacy intervention for Spanish-speaking children with language impairment', *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, 50(5): 569–579.

Pressley M and Afflerbach P (1995) *Verbal protocols of reading: The nature of constructively responsive reading*, Erlbaum, Hillsdale, New Jersey, United States.

Protopapas A, Mouzaki A, Sideridis GD, Kotsolakou A and Simos PG (2013) 'The role of vocabulary in the context of the simple view of reading', *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 29:168–202.

Puglisi ML, Hulme C, Hamilton LG and Snowling MJ (2017) 'The home literacy environment is a correlate, but perhaps not a cause, of variations in children's language and literacy development', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 21(6):498–514.

Rasinski TV (2003) *The fluent reader: Oral reading strategies for building word recognition, fluency, and comprehension,* Scholastic Professional Books, New York, United States.

Rasinski TV and Hoffman JV (2003) 'Theory and research into practice: Oral reading in the school literacy curriculum', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 38(4):510–522.

Rasinski TV, Homan S and Biggs M (2009) 'Teaching reading fluency to struggling readers: method, materials, and evidence', *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 25(2–3):192–204.

Retelsdorf J, Köller O and Möller J (2011) 'On the effects of motivation on reading performance growth in secondary school', *Learning and Instruction*, 21(4):550–559.

Riedel BW (2007) 'The relation between DIBELS, reading comprehension, and vocabulary in urban first-grade students', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 42(4):546–567.

Roberts J, Jergens J and Burchinal M (2005) 'The role of home literacy practices in preschool children's language and emergent literacy skills', *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 48(2):345–359.

Rose J (2006) *Independent review of the teaching of early reading: Final Report*, Department for Education and Skills, accessed 17 March 2022.

Roth F, Speece D and Cooper D (2002) 'A Longitudinal Analysis of the Connection Between Oral Language and Early Reading', *Journal of Educational Research*, 95:259–272.

Rowe K (2005) *Teaching reading report and recommendations: National Inquiry into the Teaching of Literacy*, Department of Education, Science and Training, Australian Government. Roy P and Chiat S (2013) 'Teasing apart disadvantage from disorder. The case of poor language', in Marshall CR (ed), *Current Issues in Developmental Disorders*, Psychology Press, New York.

Rupley WH, Blair TR and Nichols W (2009) 'Effective reading instruction for struggling readers: The role of direct/explicit teaching', *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 25(2):125–138.

Rupley W and Nichols W (2005) 'Vocabulary instruction for the struggling reader', *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 21:239–260.

Ryder JF, Tunmer WE and Greaney KT (2008) 'Explicit instruction in phonemic awareness and phonemically based decoding skills as an intervention strategy for struggling readers in whole language classrooms', *Reading and Writing*, 21:349–369.

Sáenz LM and Fuchs LS (2002) 'Examining the reading difficulty of secondary students with learning disabilities: Expository versus narrative text', *Remedial and Special Education*, 23(1):31–41.

Sailor W, Skrtic TM, Cohn M and Olmstead C (2020) 'Preparing teacher educators for statewide scale-up of multi-tiered system of support (MTSS)', *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 44(1):24–41.

Sanfilippo J, Ness M, Petscher Y, Rappaport L, Zuckerman B and Gaab N (2020) 'Reintroducing dyslexia: Early identification and implications for pediatric practice', *Pediatrics*, 146(1):e20193046.

Saracho ON (2017) 'Literacy and language: New developments in research, theory and practice', *Early Child Development and Care*, 187(3–4):299–304.

Savage R (2020) 'The simple view of reading: A scientific framework for effective teaching', *The Reading League Journal*, 1(2):41–45.

Sawyer BE, Justice LM, Guo Y, Logan JA, Petrill SA, Glenn-Applegate K, Kaderavek JN and Pentimonti JM (2014) 'Relations among home literacy environment, child characteristics and print knowledge for preschool children with language impairment', *Journal of Research in Reading*, 37:65–83.

Scarborough HS (2001) 'Connecting early language and literacy to later reading (dis)abilities: Evidence, theory, and practice', in Neuman S and. Dickinson D (eds.), *Handbook for research in early literacy*, Guilford Press, New York.

Scarborough HS and Brady S (2002) 'Toward a common terminology for talking about speech and reading: A glossary of the "phon" words and some related terms', *Journal of Literacy Research*, 34(3):299–336.

Scarborough HS and Dobrich W (1994) 'On the efficacy of reading to preschoolers', *Developmental Review*, 14(3): 245–302.

Schatschneider C, Fletcher JM, Francis DJ, Carlson C and Foorman BR (2004) 'Kindergarten prediction of reading skills: A longitudinal comparative analysis', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96:265–282.

Sénéchal M and LeFevre JA (2001) 'Storybook reading and parent teaching: links to language and literacy development', *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 92:39–98.

Sénéchal M and LeFevre JA (2002) 'Parental involvement in the development of children's reading skill: A five-year longitudinal study', *Child development*, 73(2):445–460.

Sénéchal M, LeFevre, JA, Thomas E and Daley K (1998) 'Differential effects of home literacy experiences on the development of oral and written language', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 32:96–116.

Schick A and Melzi G (2010) 'The development of children's oral narratives across contexts', *Early Education and Development*, 21:293–317.

Schmalz X, Marinus E and Castles A (2013) 'Phonological decoding or direct access? Regularity effects in lexical decisions of Grade 3 and 4 children', *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 66(2):338–346. Schmitt MB, Pentimonti J and Justice L (2012) 'Teacher-child relationships, behavior regulation, and language gain among at-risk preschoolers', *Journal of School Psychology*, 50:681–699.

Schuele C and Boudreau D (2008) 'Phonological awareness intervention: Beyond the basics', *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 39(1):3–20.

Schunk DH (2012) *Learning theories: An educational perspective*, (6th edn), Pearson, Boston, United States.

Seidenberg M (2017) Language at the speed of sight: How we read, why so many can't, and what can be done about it, Basic Books, New York.

Seidenberg MS and McClelland JL (1989) 'A distributed, developmental model of word recognition and naming', *Psychological Review*, 96(4):523–568.

Serry T, Castles A, Mensah, FK, Bavin EL, Eadie P, Pezic A, Prior M, Bretherton L and Reilly S (2015) 'Developing a comprehensive model of risk and protective factors that can predict spelling at age seven: Findings from a community sample of Victorian children', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 20(1):83–102.

Sesma HW, Mahone EM, Levine T, Eason SH and Cutting LE (2009) 'The contribution of executive skills to reading comprehension', *Child Neuropsychology*, 15(3):232–246.

Shapiro LR and Solity J (2016) 'Differing effects of two synthetic phonics programmes on early reading development', *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86(2):182–203.

Share DL (1995) 'Phonological recoding and self-teaching: sine qua non of reading acquisition', *Cognition*, 55(2):151–218.

Shaywitz SE and Shaywitz BA (2004) 'Reading disability and the brain', *Educational Leadership*, 61(6):7.

Shaywitz SE and Shaywitz BA (2008) 'Paying attention to reading: The neurobiology of reading and dyslexia', *Development and Psychopathology*, 20:1329–1349.

Shiel G, Cregan Á, McGough A and Archer P (2012) Oral language in early childhood and primary education (3-8 years): Commissioned research report, National Council for Curriculum and Assessment, accessed 7 March 2022.

Silverman RD, Speece DL, Harring JR and Ritchey KD (2013) 'Fluency has a role in the simple view of reading', *Scientific Studies of Reading*, 17(2):108–133.

Smallwood J, Beach E, Schooler JW and Handy TC (2008) 'Going AWOL in the brain: Mind wandering reduces cortical analysis of external events', *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20:458–469.

Smith R, Snow P, Serry T and Hammond L (2021) 'The role of background knowledge in reading comprehension: A critical review', *Reading Psychology*, 42(3):214–240.

Snow C (2002) *Reading for understanding: Toward an R&D program in reading comprehension*, Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, United States.

Snow CE, Burns MS and Griffin P (1998) *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*, National Academy Press, Washington, United States.

Snow CE, Tabors PO, Nicholson PA and Kurland BF (1995) 'SHELL: Oral language and early literacy skills in kindergarten and first grade children', *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 10:37–47.

Snow P (2009) 'Child maltreatment, mental health and oral language competence: Inviting speech language pathology to the prevention table', *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 11:95–103.

Snow P (2016) 'Elizabeth Usher Memorial Lecture: Language is literacy is language – Positioning speech-language pathology in education policy, practice, paradigms and polemics', *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 18(3):216–228. Snow P (2020) 'SOLAR: The science of language and reading', *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 37(3):222–233.

Snow P, de Bruin K and Graham L (2021) 'Reading instruction and support', in Allen KA, Reupert A and Oades L (eds) *Building Better Schools with Evidence-based Policy*, Routledge, London.

Snow P and Powell M (2004) 'Developmental language disorders and adolescent risk: A public-health advocacy role for speech pathologists?', *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 6(4):221–229.

Snowling MJ (2000) *Dyslexia*, 2nd edn, Blackwell, Oxford, England.

Snowling MJ (2008) 'Specific disorders and broader phenotypes: The case of dyslexia', *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 61(1):142–156.

Snowling MJ and Hulme C (2011) 'Evidence-based interventions for reading and language difficulties: creating a virtuous circle', *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(Pt 1):1–23.

Snowling MJ and Hulme C (2021) 'Annual research review: Reading disorders revisited – the critical importance of oral language', *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 62(5):635–653.

Snowling MJ and Melby-Lervag M (2016) 'Oral language deficits in familial dyslexia: A meta-analysis and review', *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(5):498–545.

Snowling MJ, Gallagher A and Frith U (2003) 'Family risk of dyslexia is continuous: Individual differences in the precursors of reading skill', *Child Development*, 74:358–373.

Snowling MJ, Hayiou-Thomas ME, Nash HM and Hulme C (2019) 'Dyslexia and Developmental Language Disorder: comorbid disorders with distinct effects on reading comprehension', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 61(6):672–680.

Snowling MJ, Nash HM, Gooch DB, Haylou-Thomas ME, Hulme C and Wellcome Language and Reading Project Team (2019) 'Developmental outcomes for children at high risk of dyslexia and children with developmental language disorder', *Child Development*, 90(5):e548–e564.

Sonnenschein S, Baker L and Serpell (2010) 'The early childhood project: A 5-year longitudinal investigation of children's literacy development in sociocultural context', in Aram D and Korat O (eds) *Literacy development and enhancement across orthographies and cultures*, Springer, Boston, Massachusetts.

Spencer M, Wagner RK and Petscher Y (2019) 'The reading comprehension and vocabulary knowledge of children with poor reading comprehension despite adequate decoding: Evidence from a regression-based matching approach', *Journal of Education Psychology*, 111(1):1–14.

St Clair MC, Pickles A, Durkin K and Conti-Ramsden G (2011) 'A longitudinal study of behavioural, emotional and social difficulties in individuals with a history of specific language impairment (SLI)', *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 44(2):186–199.

St Clair-Thompson H and Gathercole SE (2006) 'Executive functions and achievements in school: Shifting, updating, inhibition, and working memory', *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 59(4):745–759.

Stanovich PJ and Stanovich KE (2003) Using research and reason in education: How teachers can use scientifically based research to make curricular and instructional decisions, RMC Research Corporation, Portsmouth, New Hampshire.

Stark H, Snow P, Eadie P and Goldfeld S (2016) 'Language and reading instruction in early years' classrooms: the knowledge and self-rated ability of Australian teachers', *Annals of Dyslexia*, 66(1):28–54.

Stockard J (2020) 'The impact of administrative decisions on implementation fidelity of Direct Instruction and student achievement', *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 43(1):18–28.

Storch SA and Whitehurst GJ (2002) 'Oral language and coderelated precursors to reading: Evidence from a longitudinal structural model', *Developmental Psychology*, 38(6):934–947.

Such C (2021) *The Art and Science of Teaching Primary Reading*, Sage Publications, London, Great Britain.

Swanson HL and Berninger VW (1996) 'Individual differences in children's working memory and writing skill', *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 63(2):358–385.

Sweller J (1994) 'Cognitive load theory, learning difficulty, and instructional design', *Learning and Instruction*, 4(4):295–312.

Sweller J, van Merrienboer J and Paas F (2019) 'Cognitive architecture and instructional design: 20 years later', *Educational Psychology Review*, 31:261–292.

Tabors PO, Roach JA and Snow CE (2001) 'Home language and literacy environment', in Dickinson DK and Tabors PO (eds) *Beginning literacy with language*, Brookes, Baltimore, MD.

Terrell P and Watson M (2018) 'Laying a Firm Foundation: Embedding Evidence-Based Emergent Literacy Practices Into Early Intervention and Preschool Environments', *Language*, *Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 49(2):148–164.

Tilstra J, McMaster K, Van den Broek P, Kendeou P and Rapp D (2009) 'Simple but complex: Components of the simple view of reading across grade levels', *Journal of Research in Reading*, 32(4):383–401.

Torgerson, C, Brooks G, Gascoine L and Higgins S (2018) 'Phonics: reading policy and the evidence of effectiveness from a systematic 'tertiary' review', *Research Papers in Education*, 34: 1–31.

Torr J and Scott C (2006) 'Learning 'special words': technical vocabulary in the talk of adults and preschoolers during shared reading', *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 4(2):153–167.

Treiman R (1993) *Beginning to spell*, Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

Tunmer WE and Hoover WA (2019) 'The cognitive foundations of learning to read: A framework for preventing and remediating reading difficulties', *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*, 24(1):75–93.

Tunmer WE and Nicholson T (2011) 'The development and teaching of word recognition skill', in Kamil ML, Pearson PD, Moje EB and Afflerbach PP (eds) *Handbook of reading research*, Routledge, New York.

United Nations Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (2016) *Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities*, United Nations, accessed 9 March 2022.

van Kleeck A (2008) 'Providing preschool foundations for later reading comprehension: The importance of and ideas for targeting inferencing in storybook-sharing interventions', *Psychology in the Schools*, 45(7):627–643.

van Kleeck A, Vander Woude JM and Hammett L (2006) 'Fostering literal and inferential language skills in head start preschoolers with language impairment using scripted booksharing discussions', *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 15(1):85–95. Verhoeven L and van Leeuwe J (2012) 'The simple view of second language reading throughout the primary grades', *Reading and Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 26:1806–1818.

Wagner RK, Torgesen JK and Rashotte CA (1994) 'Development of reading-related phonological processing abilities: New evidence of bidirectional causality from a latent variable longitudinal study', *Developmental Psychology*, 30(1):73–87.

Wanzek J, Stevens EA, Williams KJ, Scammacca N, Vaughn S and Sargent K (2018) 'Current evidence on the effects of intensive early reading interventions', *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 51(6):612–624.

Wasik BA and Bond MA (2001) 'Beyond the pages of a book: Interactive book reading and language development in preschool classrooms', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(2):243–250.

Wasik BA, Bond MA and Hindman A (2006) 'The effects of a language and literacy intervention on Head Start children and teachers', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1):63–74.

Westerveld MF, Armstrong RM, Barton GM and Peach JM (2020) *Reading success in the primary years: An evidence-based interdisciplinary approach to guide assessment and intervention*, Springer, Singapore.

Whitehurst CJ, Epstein JN, Angell AC, Payne AC, Crone DA and Fischel JE (1994) 'Outcomes of an emergent literacy intervention in Head Start', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86:42–55.

Whitehurst GJ and Lonigan CJ (1998) 'Child development and emergent literacy', *Child development*, 69(3): 848–72.

Wigfield A and Guthrie JT (2000) 'Engagement and motivation in reading', *Handbook of Reading Research*, 3:403–422.

Williams J (2005) 'Instruction in reading comprehension for primary-grade students: a focus on text structure', *Journal of Special Education*, 39:6–18.

Williams JP and Pao LS (2011) 'Teaching narrative and expository text structure to improve comprehension', in O'connor RE and Vadasy PF (eds) *Handbook of reading interventions*, Guilford Press, New York.

Wise JC, Sevcik RA, Morris RD, Lovett MW and Wolf M (2007) 'The relationship among receptive and expressive vocabulary, listening comprehension, pre-reading skills, word identification skills and reading comprehension by children with reading disabilities', *Journal of Speech, Language and Hearing Research*, 50(4):1093–1109.

Woolley G (2011) *Reading comprehension: Assisting children* with learning difficulties. Springer, Dordrecht, NLD.

Wright TS and Cervetti GN (2017) 'A systematic review of the research on vocabulary instruction that impacts text comprehension', *Reading Research Quarterly*, 52(2):203–226.

Yildiz M and Çetinkaya E (2017) 'The Relationship Between Good Readers' Attention, Reading Fluency and Reading Comprehension', *Universal Journal of educational Research*, 5(3):266–271.

Zucker T, Justice LM, Piasta SB and Kaderavek JN (2010) 'Preschool teachers' literal and inferential questions and children's responses during whole-class shared reading', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 25(1):65–83